
 

 

 

 
Meeting 
 

Cabinet Committee: Housing 
 

Date and Time 
 

Tuesday, 21st March, 2023 at 10.00 am. 

Venue 
 
 

Walton Suite, Winchester Guildhall 

Note: This meeting is being held in person at the location specified above.  Members 
of the public should note that a live video feed of the meeting will be available from 
the council’s YouTube channel ( youtube.com/WinchesterCC ) during the meeting.  
 
A limited number of seats will be made available at the above named location 
however attendance must be notified to the council at least 3 working days before 
the meeting. Please note that priority will be given to those wishing to attend and 
address the meeting over those wishing to attend and observe. 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

PROCEDURAL ITEMS  

1.   Apologies  
 To record the names of apologies given. 

 

2.   Disclosure of Interests  
 To receive any disclosure of interests from Members and Officers in 

matters to be discussed. 
Note: Councillors are reminded of their obligations to declare disclosable 
pecuniary interests, personal and/or prejudicial interests in accordance 
with legislation and the Council’s Code of Conduct. 

 

3.   To note any request from Councillors to make representations on an 
agenda item.  
 

4.   Public participation  
 NB members of the public are required to register with Democratic Services 

three clear working days before the meeting (contact: 
democracy@winchester.gov.uk or 01962 848 264).     
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

youtube.com/winchestercc


BUSINESS ITEMS  

5.   Minutes of the previous meeting held on 2 February 2023 (Pages 5 - 8) 
 

6.   Chairperson's announcements  
 

 

Members of the public and visiting councillors may speak at Cabinet, provided they 
have registered to speak three working days in advance.  Please contact Democratic 
Services by 5pm on Wednesday 15 March 2023 via democracy@winchester.gov.uk 
or (01962) 848 264 to register to speak and for further details. 
 

7.   New Homes Programme Update (verbal update)  

   

8.   Preventing Homelessness Grant Spending Plan 2023/24 (Pages 9 - 30) 

 Key Decision (CAB3393(H)) 

9.   Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy (Pages 31 - 94) 

 Key Decision (CAB3375(H)) 

 
Laura Taylor 

Chief Executive 
 
 

 
 

 

All of the Council’s publicly available agendas, reports and minutes 
are available to view and download from the Council’s Website 
and are also open to inspection at the offices of the council.  As 
part of our drive to minimise our use of paper we do not provide 
paper copies of the full agenda pack at meetings. We do however, 
provide a number of copies of the agenda front sheet at the 
meeting which contains the QR Code opposite. Scanning this code 
enables members of the public to easily access all of the meeting 
papers on their own electronic device. Please hold your device’s 
camera or QR code App over the QR Code so that it's clearly 
visible within your screen and you will be redirected to the agenda 
pack. 

 

 
13 March 2023 
 
Agenda Contact: Nancy Graham, Senior Democratic Services Officer   Email: 
ngraham@winchester.gov.uk or phone 01962 848 235 
 
 
 
 

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


MEMBERSHIP 
 
Cabinet Committee: Housing 
 
Cabinet Member for Community & Housing (Chairperson) – Councillor Ferguson, 
Cabinet Member for Finance & Value (Councillor Power) and Cabinet Member for 
Service Quality (Councillor Gordon-Smith 
  
Non-voting invited councillors: Councillors Batho, Cutler, Horrill and Kurn (Deputy: 
Miller) 
Non voting TACT representatives: David Light and David Chafe (Deputy - Lyn 
Mellish) 
 
In the event of any member of Cabinet not being available for a meeting of the 
Cabinet Committee another member of Cabinet may deputise where no conflict 
arises. 
 

Quorum = 2 voting members 
 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
Cabinet Committee: Housing  – Included within the Council’s Constitution (Part 3, 
Section 2)  
 
Public Participation at meetings 
Representations will be limited to a maximum of 3 minutes, subject to a maximum 15 
minutes set aside for all questions and answers.  
 
To reserve your place to speak, you are asked to register with Democratic 
Services three clear working days prior to the meeting – please see public 
participation agenda item below for further details.  People will be invited to speak in 
the order that they have registered, subject to the maximum time period allowed for 
speaking not being exceeded.  Public Participation is at the Chairperson’s discretion. 
 
 
Filming and Broadcast Notification 
This meeting will be recorded and broadcast live on the Council’s website. The 
meeting may also be recorded and broadcast by the press and members of the 
public – please see the Access to Information Procedure Rules within the Council's 
Constitution for further information, which is available to view on the Council’s 
website.  Please note that the video recording is subtitled but you may have to 
enable your device to see them (advice on how to do this is on the meeting page). 
 
Disabled Access 
 
Disabled access is normally available, but please phone Democratic Services on 
01962 848 264 or email democracy@winchester.gov.uk to ensure that the necessary 
arrangements are in place. 

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=352&MId=2032&info=1&Ver=4
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=352&MId=2032&info=1&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

CABINET COMMITTEE: HOUSING 
 

Thursday, 2 February 2023 
Attendance: 
 

Councillors 
Ferguson (Chairperson) 

 
Gordon-Smith 
 
 

Power 
 

 
  Non-voting invited councillors 
 
  Councillors Clear, Horrill and Scott 
 
  Non-voting invited TACT representatives 
  
   Mr D Chafe and Mr D Light 
 
   Apologies for absence 
 
   Councillor Batho 
 
   Others in attendance: 
 
   Mrs L Mellish (TACT) 
 
 
 
Video recording of this meeting  
 

 
1.    APOLOGIES  

 
Apologies were received as noted above. 
 

2.    DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS  
 
There were no declarations of interest made.  
 

3.    PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
There were no questions asked or statements made. 
 

4.    MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 31 OCTOBER 2022  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 31 October 2022 
be agreed as a correct record. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=426&MId=4135&Ver=4


 
 

 
 

5.    CHAIRPERSON'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
Councillor Ferguson welcomed Simon Hendey to the meeting. Mr Hendey had 
recently joined the council as Strategic Director with responsibility for housing. 
 
Councillor Ferguson also provided an update on the ‘retrofit ready’ programme 
for council tenants which was progressing well.   
 

6.    NEW HOMES PROGRAMME UPDATE (VERBAL UPDATE)  
 
The Head of New Homes Delivery gave a presentation which is available on the 
council’s website and responded to questions and comments raised by members 
and TACT representatives on the following:  
 

 The progress of the council delivering 1000 new homes by 2030. 

 The experience that the council had gained to assist with its delivery of 
extra care schemes, such as that proposed Kings Barton Winchester. 

 Land availability for new affordable homes – including at smaller sites in 
the council’s ownership and larger sites coming forward as part of the 
local plan process where the council could assist with negotiations with 
communities and developers.   

 Updates regarding schemes at Whiteley, The Dean (Alresford) and 
Winecross Cottages (North Boarhunt). 

 The role and influence of the Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH) 
with negotiation with the Environment Agency and Natural England 
regarding nitrate and phosphate mitigation. 

 Sewage treatment plants in the district and their contribution to phosphate 
mitigation and also Nitrate credits and their ‘banking’.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 

That the presentation be noted. 
 

7.    DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS  
 (CAB3382(H)) 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

That the decision recommended in report CAB3382(H) be deferred 
for consideration at the next meeting of the Cabinet Committee: Housing 
on 21 March 2023. 

 
8.    HOUSING SERVICES COMPENSATION & REIMBURSEMENT POLICY  
 (CAB3394(H)) 
  

The Property Services Manager provided an update and clarification to some 
areas of his report. 
 
The Property Services Manager and Corporate Head of Housing responded to 
questions and comments raised by members and TACT representatives on the 
following: 

Page 6

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/documents/b11299/New%20Homes%20Programme%20development%20update%2002nd-Feb-2023%2010.00%20Cabinet%20Committee%20Housing.pdf?T=9


 
 

 
 

 

 Assurances of sufficient ‘van stock’ to enable completion of an 
appointment;  

 Ability to resolve disputes as to whether a contractor had met an 
appointment or not; 

 The council being inundated with heating system breakdowns following a 
period of mild weather and sudden onset of cold temperatures and the 
council’s proposed communication plan to help address this in the future;   

 When a more ‘consumer friendly’ version of the new policy was to be 
prepared for circulation to tenants;  

 The proposed level of compensation for missed appointments and when 
the council was able to consider greater payments when loss of earnings 
could be demonstrated (paragraph 3.01 of the policy as set out at 
Appendix 1 to the report;  

 Compensation payments to be made in voucher equivalent and flexibility 
and understanding of tenant circumstance regarding this;  

 Consultation with tenants of the council’s Heating Strategy and moving 
those tenants who were ‘off grid’ to new systems which may cost more to 
run; 

 The potential negative impact of the policy on those tenants with 
protected characteristics – a common sense and reasonableness 
approach would be taken.   

 
During debate, the committee welcomed the proposal for regular review of the 
policy and two additional recommendations to those set out in the report were 
noted and agreed as set out in the resolution below (recommendations 2 and 3). 
 
The Cabinet Committee agreed the following for the reasons set out above and 
outlined in the report. 
 

RESOLVED: 

 

1. That the Housing Services Compensation and Reimbursement 
policy be approved as set out in Appendix 1 of report CAB3394(H). 

 

2. That authority be delegated to the Corporate Head of Housing, in 
consultation with the Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Community and 
Housing, to make minor changes to the policy as required. 

 
3. That the policy be reviewed on a bi-annual basis.    

 
9.    DATE OF NEXT MEETING/FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME  

 
The Chairperson advised that the next meeting of the committee was on 
Tuesday 21 March 2023.  
 
 

The meeting commenced at 10.00 am and concluded at 11.20 am 
 

Chairperson 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

CAB3393(H) 
CABINET COMMITTEE: HOUSING 

 
 

REPORT TITLE: PREVENTING HOMELESSNESS GRANT SPENDING PLAN 
23/24 

21 MARCH 2023 

REPORT OF CABINET MEMBER: Cllr Paula Ferguson, Cabinet Member for 
Community and Housing 

Contact Officer:  Karen Thorburn   Tel No: 01962 848 076  Email: 
kthorburn@winchester.gov.uk  

WARD(S):  ALL 

 
 

 

 
PURPOSE 

’Homes for all’ and ‘Living Well’ are key priorities identified within the Council Plan. 

The council is committed to prevent and relieve homelessness, ensuring that 
everyone within the district receives housing advice and support to those who are at 
risk of homelessness. 

It is recognised that the council cannot prevent homelessness alone and works in 
close partnership with the statutory, voluntary and charitable organisations to 
achieve its outcomes. The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC) allocates the council an annual Homeless Prevention Grant (HPG). The 
grant enables local authorities to further control and the flexibility in managing 
homelessness pressures.  

The HPG for 2023/24 is £319,496. This report sets out the grant allocation and 
seeks approval of the proposed spending plan.  

The spending plan outlined in this paper (for the 2023/24 grant allocation) 
recommends;  

 £ 90,000 spend on Accommodation services 

 £136,380 spend on staffing resources-existing & new 

 £ 78,200 spend on prevention activities  

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 8

mailto:kthorburn@winchester.gov.uk


  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

1. Approve the award of homelessness prevention grants to statutory, voluntary 

and community organisations for 2023-2024 as set out in report at paragraph 

12.13 

2. Approve the Homeless Prevention Grant Spending Plan 2023-24 as set out in 

the report in paragraph 12.13 to support all detailed homeless prevention 

activities.  

3. Approve that £216,466 of the Homeless Prevention Grant reserve which has 

resulted from underspends in previous financial years, as outlined in cabinet 

report CAB3340, is allocated to support the services effected by Hampshire 

County Council’s (HCC) social inclusion cuts and to fund the Strategic Core 

Grants to Trinity Winchester and The Beacon. 

4.  Approve the same grant allocation of the Homeless Prevention Grant spend 

for 2024/25, and  delegate authority to the Strategic Director in consultation 

with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Community and Housing to 

make minor changes to year 2 of the spending plan. 

 

Page 10



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

IMPLICATIONS: 
 
1 COUNCIL PLAN OUTCOME  

1.1 The proposed Homeless Prevention Grant Spending Plan supports the 
Council Plan 2020 – 2025 in respect of the four key priorities of Homes for all, 
Living well, Vibrant local economy and Your services, Your voice. It also 
supports the implementation of the ‘Preventing Homeless and Rough 
Sleepers’ strategy 2019-2024. 

1.2 Homes for all 

1.3 Provision of good quality affordable housing options meet the needs of our 
most vulnerable and socially excluded residents, maximising opportunities to 
support people out of homelessness and prevent repeat homelessness. 

1.4 Vibrant Local Economy 

1.5 Provision of good quality affordable housing contributes to the local economy 
and with greater employment opportunities provides a pathway out of poverty 
and homelessness.  

1.6 Living Well 

1.7 The provision of good quality housing is linked to and has direct impact on 
wellbeing and health inequalities often faced by those vulnerably housed or 
homeless. To ensure that the council supports homeless households to 
integrate into our communities and to ensure all available support services are 
accessible. 

2 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

2.1 All housing authorities have in recent years been allocated an additional HPG 
to assist with managing homelessness pressures and supporting those who 
are at risk of homelessness. 

2.2 The grant for 2023/2025 is £654,010. A detailed spending plan sets out how 
Year 1 will be committed in the financial year 2023-24, this is set out in 
section 12.13 of this report. It should be noted that there is no guarantee the 
council will be awarded this level of funding for future years. 

2.3 In June 2022 in the Cabinet report CAB3340 it outlined that previous HPG’s 
had not been fully committed and the reasons why. The reserve as of 2 
February 2023 is £636,000. The report also stated that the reserve had been 
earmarked to support 4 future project areas, one being to prepare for 
significant funding reductions following HCC balancing the budget 
consultation and the cuts to the allocation of the social inclusion grant from 
April 2023. These cuts have now been agreed through HCC’s governance 
programme and are in the public domain. 

Page 11



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

2.4 The first impact for the district of Winchester of HCC’s social inclusion cuts is 
the funding that The Beacon receives directly from HCC will reduce 
significantly from £64,733 to £24,500 per annum.  The Beacon assists the 
council’s homeless prevention agenda. In 21/22 the Beacon received 70 
referrals from the council, 35 of those referrals were offered a bed space and 
22 took up the offer of accommodation. Of those 22, 10 we deemed to be 
rough sleeping at the point of being referred to The Beacon or by the time 
they moved in. In addition to this 230 sessions of 1-1 counselling and 
psychotherapy were delivered to 30 residents.  

2.5 The council commissioned an independent strategic review of the council’s 
housing options service. One recommendation in the review was that the 
council should consider using the HPG to meet the funding grant gap outlined 
above. The report stated that the provision for off the street accommodation is 
an essential component of any local authority’s response to tackling 
homelessness and ending rough sleeping. The council is committed to ending 
rough sleeping within the Winchester district. The Beacon is a key provider of 
good quality off the street accommodation, and is an essential part of any 
individual’s pathway out of rough sleeping and homelessness. 

2.6 Should The Beacon funding gap not be met there is a very real risk that the 
accommodation at The Beacon will no longer be available. The council’s only 
option will be to provide emergency accommodation to this client group in the 
form of Bed and Breakfast. The council has not had to rely on the costly and 
unsuitable use of Bed and Breakfast provision (save in an emergency) since 
2012.  

2.7 It is recommended that the council provides £80,466 to The Beacon to cover 
the period April 2023-March 2025 to meet the shortfall. This funding will be 
drawn from the reserve. A service level agreement and monitoring and 
performance arrangements will be set up by council officers to ensure value 
for money. 

2.8 The independent strategic review of the housing options service also 
analysed the council’s homeless data and compared the current number of 
approaches over the past 4 years. Based on this analysis the council is 
anticipating a 32% increase in homelessness assessments in 2022/23 
compared with the previous years.  All available information indicates that 
further increases are very likely; particularly in relation to the impact of the 
cost of living crisis, the pressure around providing accommodation for 
refugees and changes to the private rented housing sector.  If the service 
continues to see such increases additional staff resources will be needed to 
meet demand. Therefore it is recommended that an additional post within the 
Housing Options team is funded, specifically that £76,268 is allocated from 
the HPG reserve is used to fund a Housing Option Officer post for 18 Months.  

2.9 The council has two core housing partners (Trinity Winchester and The 
Beacon) and provides core grants to these partners totalling £68k annually. 
(£53k for Trinity Winchester and £13k for The Beacon). In previous years 

Page 12



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

these core grants have been funded through the council’s general fund. Given 
that these grants relate specifically to preventing homelessness, it is 
recommended that this support should be met from the HPG reserve. A total 
of £136,000 for 23/24 and 24/25. This will have no effect on approved grant 
levels for either Trinity Winchester or The Beacon though it should be noted 
that the HPG is only guaranteed until March 2025 and will be subject to 
government approval.  

2.10 This leaves £343,266 remaining within the HPG reserve which the council 
may need to draw on to assist in the proposed increase in homelessness due 
to the cost of living crisis, which may also necessitate the procurement of 
additional temporary accommodation. 

2.11 In the HPG spending plan for 22/23, £50,000 was allocated for a mental 
health step out pathway worker. Officers are still working with the NHS and 
partners to facilitate this and therefore there is a committed spend from the 
current financial year that will need to be carried forward into 23/24.  

3 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS  

3.1 The principal statutory provisions relating to homelessness are set out in Part 
VII of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended). The Homelessness Reduction Act 
2017 also sets out duties with the aim of preventing homelessness and came 
into force in 2018.  

3.2 The legislation sets out the duties and powers that apply to a local housing 
authority in relation to people who are homeless, or at risk of homelessness, 
having access to help provided they are eligible for assistance. The 2017 Act 
introduced a new duty on local housing authorities to take reasonable steps to 
prevent homelessness. The intention behind this duty is to try and prevent 
applicants becoming homeless, for example, by enabling them to stay in their 
current accommodation or finding somewhere new to live before actual 
homelessness occurs. The recommendations in this report are intended to 
meet the council’s statutory duties.  

3.3 The proposals outlined in the report for expenditure of this grant funding are 
all either compliant with the Public Regulations 2015 (PCR2015) (contracts) or 
are permitted under the subsidy control regime (grants). Ongoing legal and 
procurement support will be provided as required, in relation to the 
expenditure of this grant.  

4 WORKFORCE IMPLICATIONS  

4.1 To be resourced within existing staff structure, the additional posts being 
requested and through the partnership working opportunities with voluntary 
sector and statutory partners by sharing staffing resources and grant funding 
through the governments preventing homelessness grant.  

4.2 Delivering the programme as set out in this report relies on additional staff 
resources. It is proposed that the 2 existing posts which end in June 2022 are 

Page 13



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

extended, this is the full time Senior Housing Options Officer and a front line 
Housing Options Officer. It is also proposed that 3 additional posts are 
funded, and a further front line Housing Options Officer as stated in paragraph 
2.8, an outreach worker as referenced in paragraph 12.23 and a full time 
Strategic Housing Support Officer as referenced in paragraph 12.22. These 
posts will all be funded from the HPG reserve and the 2023/24 HPG 
allocation. 

5 PROPERTY AND ASSET IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 Recommendations within this report have no immediate impact on council 
property or assets.  

6 CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION  

6.1 Consultation with local voluntary and housing partners took place on the 
proposed Preventing Homelessness Grant spending plan through the 
homelessness pathway group. 

6.2 The front line Housing Options officers and the wider Housing Options team 
inclusive of Allocations, Homes for Ukraine and Temporary Accommodation 
officers were consulted and provided input regarding service delivery gaps 
and identified future spending needs. 

6.3 Consultation through two spending review workshops were held with the 
Corporate Head of Housing, Strategic Housing Service Lead and Housing 
Options Manager. A second review meeting included the Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Member for Community and Housing.  

6.4 A focus group with all the members of the housing options service was 
facilitated by Laura Patterson, a consultant commissioned by the council to 
carry a strategic overview of the housing options service.  

7 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS 

7.1 Improved city centre environment through reduced street homelessness and 
associated street activity by offering sustainable housing provision, support 
and quality housing options. The homelessness outreach supports those out 
of rough sleeping and reduces the anti-social behaviour of those attached to 
city centre street activity.  

 
8 PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY  

8.1 Under s149 (1) of the Equality Act the council must have due regard, in the 
exercise of its functions, ( and Cabinet must, as the decision maker in respect 
of the proposed decision, have due regard) to the need to; 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

Page 14



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share relevant 
protected characteristics and persons who do not share them. 

 Foster good relations between persons who share relevant protected 
characteristics and persons who do not share them.  

 
9 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

9.1      An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed to assess the 
impact of this decision. The Impact assessment can be found at appendix 1 
which concluded that discrimination against homeless people is an act of 
treating people or perceived people to be homeless unfavourably. The 
assessment considered those with ‘protected equality characteristics’ and 
concluded that the Homeless Prevention Grant Spending Plan 2023/24 will not 
negatively impact on any of those groups. 

10 DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

10.1 Any subsequent change to council service delivery and policy will undergo a 
data protection impact assessment with service privacy statements reviewed. 

 
11 RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

Risk  Mitigation Opportunities 

Financial Exposure 

 

Risk of not committing 

resources in line with the 

spending plan. 

 

Risk of central 

government not 

continuing HPG funding 

past March 2025. 

  

Some of the core duties 

are met from the general 

fund budget, the grant is 

used to enhance and 

improve service provision.  

 

All the proposals (apart 

from out of hours which is 

a statutory service) are 

‘one-off’ or fixed term and 

create no significant long-

term liability on the 

General Fund. 

 

Budget Monitoring and 

reviews. SLA with partner 

agencies. 

Increasing and promoting 

earlier intervention and 

homelessness prevention 

services. Exploring 

alternative and 

discretionary housing 

options.  

 

An opportunity to offer 

enhanced and wider 

community support to the 

most excluded and 

vulnerable residents. 

Exposure to challenge Compliance with the 

council’s Preventing 

Homelessness duties is a 

legislative statutory duty 

 

Page 15



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

Innovation 

 

Opportunities for the 

council to work in 

partnership with statutory 

and voluntary partners on 

joint prevention 

homelessness initiatives 

above its statutory duties.  

 Opportunity to positively 

enhance the council’s 

reputation through 

discretionary and joint 

preventing homelessness 

initiatives and projects 

through utilising the 

reserve and funded 

through the HPG 

spending plan.  

Reputation 

 

Risk of failing to deliver 

the council’s statutory 

preventing homeless 

duties. 

Prevent and relief 

homelessness duties 

implemented at the 

earliest opportunity. 

Opportunity to positively 

enhance the council’s 

reputation by reducing 

homelessness and 

increasing alternative 

housing options. Good 

news stories, publicity 

opportunities.  

Achievement of outcome 

 

Meeting homelessness 

statutory duties. Making 

best use of the 

government’s Homeless 

Prevention Grant. 

Demonstrating best 

practice service delivery 

through partnership 

working and discretionary 

funding. 

Government statistical 

returns 

Budget monitoring and 

reviews 

SLA with partner 

agencies. 

Opportunity to positively 

enhance the council’s 

reputation through 

discretionary and joint 

preventing homelessness 

initiatives and projects 

funded through the HPG 

reserve and spending 

plan. 

 
 
12 SUPPORTING INFORMATION: 

12.1 Background 

12.2 The 2023/24 Homelessness Prevention Grant (HPG) of £319,496 as awarded 
by the Department of Levelling up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC)  is to 
enable local authorities to have control and flexibility in managing 
homelessness pressures and support those who are risk of homelessness. 

12.3 It is recognised that the council cannot prevent or solve homelessness alone. 
As such the homelessness spending plan sets out areas of spend that best 
support partnership working opportunities whilst underpinning the council’s 
statutory housing responsibilities to ensure preventative initiatives are central 
to service delivery.  

Page 16



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

12.4 The HPG is the primary central government funding stream to assist in the 
council and wider community in delivering their homeless services. The grant 
is ring fenced to ensure local authorities are fully resourced to take action to 
prevent homelessness and to continue to embed the changes required 
through implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act (2017). 

12.5 The purpose of the HPG is to; 

 Support the council to continue to meet its legislative duties under the 
Homelessness Reduction Act (2017) 

 To prevent and end rough sleeping by increasing activities to prevent single 
household homelessness. 

 Reduce the number of families living in temporary accommodation by 
maximising family homeless prevention opportunities. 

 To reduce the use of bed and breakfast and emergency accommodation for 
families providing more stable interim housing opportunities. 

12.6 The government has significantly increased homelessness grant funding over 
the past 3 years to enable local authorities to respond to the changing nature 
of homelessness with focus on ending rough sleeping, to help meet the 
challenges and positive changes in practice identified during the pandemic 
and the cost of living crisis. 

12.7 Whilst the HPG is the primary source of central government funding to meet 
the objectives set out in paragraph 12.5 and supports staffing, projects and 
initiatives, the council does receive other funding streams to support wider 
service provision to prevent homelessness and rough sleeping.  

12.8 The council has been successful in bidding for Rough Sleepers Initiative 
Funding (RSI) for 2022/25 which funds a complex needs navigator, 
personalised budget for those who have been or at risk of sleeping rough and 
going forward will fund the council implementing a housing first model.  

12.9 The council was also awarded £84,187 of DWP household support fund from 
HCC in 2022/23 to support household’s exceptional housing costs. As of 
03.02.2023 £62,541 had been allocated supporting 44 households. 

12.10 In December 2022 the council was also awarded an additional £48,000 of 
HPG to assist with winter pressures.  

12.11 In June 2022 Cabinet (cabinet report CAB3340) approved the spending plan 
for the HPG for 2022/23. Outlined below are some of the outcomes achieved 
from the initiatives funded in 2022/23.        

 Social inclusion grant supported 29 bed spaces in Stage 1 
accommodation and 13 bed spaces in Stage 2 accommodation 

Page 17



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

 The flexible prevention fund prevented 38 households from becoming 
homeless. 

 Supported 16 residents to access accommodation due to severe 
weather. 

 Supported 2 emergency beds for young people. 

 Provided a robust out of hour’s homeless service. 

 Invested in frontline staff resources. 

12.12 Evaluating the outcomes of this year’s spending plan has assisted in 
determining what projects and resources the spending plan for 2023/24 will 
focus on. 

12.13 Proposed Spending Plan for 2023/24 

Homeless Prevention Activity 23/24  Proposed spend  

Social Inclusion Grant to HCC £50,000 

Flexible Prevention and Rent Deposit 
Fund 

£60,000 

SWEP and Cold Weather Payments £10,000 

Young Persons Emergency beds £10,000 

Homelessness Out of Hours provision £13,000 

Staffing Resource  £97,262 

Outreach Worker -18 month contract, 
12 months to be paid from 23-24 
spending plan 
 

£ 39,118(12 months cost) 

IT costs for Civica x 1 years homeless 
module 

£ 5,200 

Emergency accommodation  costs  
(Non SWEP) 

£20,000 

Total  £304,580 

Total Remaining  £14,916 

  

 

12.14 The council’s HPG spending plan for 2023/24 focuses on change and building 
on positive housing sector initiatives, practices and partnership working.  The 
spending plan also supports service recovery plans and meets the objectives 
of the preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleepers Strategy 2019-24. It 
also delivers on a number of the recommendations in the strategic overview of 
the housing options service. 

12.15 The introduction of the HRA 2017 which was enacted in April 2018 
significantly changed the council’s homeless statutory duties and 
administrative burdens. The council now has a statutory duty to prevent 

Page 18



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

homelessness which is blind to priority need and local connection. The 
Government acknowledged that these new duties were unlikely to be 
delivered from existing funding sources and as such the allocation of the HPG 
to the council was significantly increased. If the HPG is not spent on initiatives 
to prevent homelessness, funds would have to be found from an alternative 
source or the council would be at risk of not being able to fulfil its statutory 
duties.  

12.16 Social Inclusion Grant to HCC- The council currently co-commission with 
Hampshire County Council (HCC) accommodation and support for the most 
complex single homeless households. A contribution of £50,000 secured from 
the HPG will help support the provision of 29 units of accommodation at West 
View House and 13 units of accommodation at Sussex Street. HCC’s contract 
has been extended to March 2026 and the joint commission of services 
ensures that suitable accommodation is available to prevent people from 
rough sleeping by targeting support to the most excluded and in need. 
Proposed spending budget of £50,000.  

12.17 Flexible prevention and Rent Deposit Fund- A flexible prevention and rent 
deposit fund of £60,000 to allow front line Housing Options Officers to prevent 
and relieve homelessness through spend to save initiatives. Including 
securing accommodation in the private rented sector to cover rent in advance, 
deposits and security bonds. The fund offers financial help to prevent 
homelessness through eviction, assisting with court costs to secure a stay of 
eviction and help to clear current or historic rent arrears or other debts, acting 
as a barrier to securing and sustaining accommodation. The fund is critical to 
prevent vulnerable households seeking high interest loans from loan sharks 
placing them further into poverty and homelessness. This has been increased 
from £40,000 to reflect in the uplift in expected approaches. Proposed 
spending budget £60,000. 

12.18 Severe Weather Emergency Provision (SWEP) and Emergency Cold 
Weather Payments. The council has a responsibility to deliver SWEP to 
ensure safe emergency accommodation is available to anyone sleeping rough 
during periods of extreme cold or hot weather. The COVID-19 government 
advice to local authorities is that shared accommodation spaces are no longer 
suitable as SWEP and expect councils to provide self-contained emergency 
accommodation. The council works in partnership with Trinity Winchester, The 
Beacon and Two Saints who offer emergency placements and support within 
their housing provision to assist the council to meet its SWEP duties. The 
council offers financial assistance to meet the costs incurred by the 
accommodation providers, should demand increase the council may also 
need to make use of hotel or other accommodation to meet its housing duties. 
A budget of £10,000 is suggested to cover SWEP costs. Proposed spending 
budget of £10,000. 

12.19  Young Persons Emergency Beds. To continue to fund 2 emergency beds 
with high level support for local homeless young persons aged 16-21 years 

Page 19



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

that are accommodated at A2 Dominion supported housing project 
commissioned by HCC. Proposed spending budget of £10,000. 

12.20 Homelessness Out of Hours Provision: The council has a statutory duty to 
provide a comprehensive homeless service that requires members of the 
team providing a homelessness duty service on evenings, weekends and 
bank holidays throughout the year. The associated cost for the out of hour’s 
service standby rates is £11,000 per annum. Proposed spending budget of 
£13,000. 

12.21 Staffing Resources. To continue to employ, on fixed term contracts, a front 
line Housing Options Officer and the uplift for a Senior Housing Options 
Officer paid through the homelessness grant to manage the increased 
burdens and the council’s responsibilities under the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017, the Cost of Living Crisis and the increase in private sector evictions 
following the pandemic. This resource will assist to sustain the staffing 
resilience to meet the council’s statutory preventative homelessness duties. 
Proposed spending budget of £58,144. 

12.22 Additional Staffing resources.  To employ a Strategic Housing Officer to 
support the Housing Options, Allocations and Temporary Accommodation 
teams with the increased administration burdens of the HRA (2017), and 
increase of managing the various new government funding streams. It will 
assist with the administration associated with debt recovery and the increase 
in housing register applications... This post will also provide administrative 
support to the Housing Options Manager and the Strategic Housing Service 
Lead. This paper is recommending that the council recruits a Strategic 
Housing Officer for 18 months. Proposed Spending Budget of £39,118  

12.23 Outreach Worker.  A further impact of the HCC’s social inclusion cuts is that 
the community support post attached to stage 1 and stage 2 accommodation 
will cease from 31.03.2023. This post is crucial to the council and the wider 
community as it provides early intervention to link up with statutory and 
voluntary partners, it reaches the ‘harder to engage’ residents and it is 
effective in resolving rough sleeping at an earlier stage which reduces street 
attachment and activity .This paper is recommending that the council recruits 
an outreach worker for 18 months. Proposed Spending Budget £39,118  

12.24 IT costs for Housing Options Module- In order to fulfil the statutory data 
returns through H-Clic, a purposed built Homeless Module is required. This 
module is part of our wider Civica System. Proposed Spending Budget 
£5,200.00. 

12.25 Emergency Accommodation Costs- The council has a statutory 
responsibility to provide emergency accommodation for some households 
who are homelessness and no other alternative accommodation has been 
sourced. There may be times when officers have to access accommodation in 
the form of hostels, hotels and similar on an interim basis until more 
reasonable and suitable temporary accommodation can be found or a 

Page 20



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

decision has been made regarding the council’s housing duty towards them. 
Proposed Spending Budget £20,000. 

 
13 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED  

13.1 The option of not committing the grant for the whole year is rejected as it 
would significantly reduce early intervention and preventative homelessness 
work due to a short term commitment of funding. With a potential to increase 
the council’s costly statutory duties to accommodate homeless households to 
prevent people from becoming homeless in the first place. 

13.2 The option of retaining the HPG grant to balance the general fund or to 
underpin the core homelessness service is rejected as not sustainable as the 
government grant is not guaranteed and is awarded on a yearly basis. 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:- 

Previous Committee Reports:- 

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/documents/s21912/CAB3340%20The%20Hom
elessness%20Prevention%20Grant%20Spending%20Plan%2022-23.pdf 

BHP004, PREEVNTING HOMELESSNESS & ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY & 
ACTION PLAN 18 JUNE 2019  

BHP019 HRA WELFARE FUND AND HOMELESSNESS PREVENTING GRANT 
SPENDING PLANS 22 June 2021 

Other Background Documents:- 

None 

APPENDICES: 

Appendix 1- Equality Impact assessment  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/documents/s21912/CAB3340%20The%20Homelessness%20Prevention%20Grant%20Spending%20Plan%2022-23.pdf
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/documents/s21912/CAB3340%20The%20Homelessness%20Prevention%20Grant%20Spending%20Plan%2022-23.pdf
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/documents/s6967/BHP004%20Preventing%20Homelessness%20and%20Rough%20Sleeping%20Strategy.pdf
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/documents/s6967/BHP004%20Preventing%20Homelessness%20and%20Rough%20Sleeping%20Strategy.pdf
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/documents/s15793/Final%20BHP019%20HRA%20Welfare%20Fund%20and%20Preventing%20Homelessness%20Grant%20Spending%20Plans.pdf
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/documents/s15793/Final%20BHP019%20HRA%20Welfare%20Fund%20and%20Preventing%20Homelessness%20Grant%20Spending%20Plans.pdf


  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

 

 
Appendix 1 

Winchester City Council  

Equality Impact Assessment  
Section 1 - Data Checklist  

When undertaking your Equality Impact Assessment for your policy or project, it is 
important that you take into consideration everything which is associated with the 
policy or project that is being assessed. 
The checklist below is to help you sense check your policy or project before you 
move to Section 2.  

  Yes/No Please provide details 

1 Have there been any 
complaints data related to the 
policy or project you are looking 
to implement? 

No We haven’t received any complaints 
regarding how the council has spent 
the grant previously 

2 Have all officers who will be 
responsible for implementing 
the policy or project been 
consulted, and given the 
opportunity to raise concerns 
about the way the policy or 
function has or will be 
implemented?  

Yes Yes, officers were consulted at the 
Housing Options Officer’s weekly 
team meeting and the wider 
Housing Options team meeting. 
The Deputy Leader and Portfolio 
Holder for Housing and the 
Corporate Head of Housing 
contributed to the content of the 
report.  
Partners involved in delivering the 
interventions were consulted at the 
regular partner pathway meetings 

3 Have previous consultations 
highlighted any concerns about 
the policy or project from an 
equality impact perspective?  

No No, this spending review is inclusive 
to anyone threatened with 
homelessness, who is currently 
homeless or has a history of rough 
sleeping. The projects outlined in 
the paper are more inclusive than 
previous years carrying over some 
of the good practice projects from 
the previous year.  

4 Do you have any concerns 
regarding the implementation of 
this policy or project? 
 
(ie. Have you completed a self 
assessment and action plan for 
the implementation of your 
policy or project?) 

No Action Plan included in the paper, 
paragraph 12.13 

5 Does any accessible data No It will support anyone who is 

Page 22

http://www.winchester.gov.uk/graphics/winchester_city_council_logo_2017.png


  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

regarding the area which your 
work will address identify any 
areas of concern or potential 
problems which may impact on 
your policy or project? 

homeless, threatened with 
homelessness or rough sleeping 
regardless of their protective 
characteristics 
 

6 Do you have any past 
experience delivering similar 
policies or projects which may 
inform the implementation of 
your scheme from an equality 
impact point of view? 

Yes This is a yearly spending plan & 
review on how the local authority 
will spend of the annual Homeless 
Prevention Grant, which is allocated 
from the government. The service 
has years of experience working 
with government grants and has 
received various new grant 
allocations in the financial year 
2022/23. Service Lead has 
experience at both district and 
county level. 

7 Are there any other issues that 
you think will be relevant?  

No  

 
 

Section 2 - Your Equality Impact Assessment form  
 
Directorate: 

 
Your Service 
Area: 

 
Team:  

Officer 
responsible for 
this 
assessment:  

 
Date of 
assessment:  

 

 Question Please provide details 

1 What is the name of the policy or 
project that is being assessed? 

Homeless Prevention Grant Spending 
Plan 2023/24 and permissions to 
allocate a proportion of the Homeless 
Prevention Grant reserve. 

2 Is this a new or existing policy? No, this is an annual spending plan 

3 Briefly describe the aim and purpose 
of this work. 

The 2023/24 Homelessness Prevention 
Grant (HPG) of £319,496 as awarded 
by the Department of Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC) is 
to enable local authorities to have 
control and flexibility in managing 
homelessness pressures and to 
support those who are at risk of 
homelessness. 

It is recognised that the council cannot 
prevent or solve homelessness alone. 
As such the homelessness prevention 
spending plans sets out areas of spend 
that best support partnership working 

Page 23



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

opportunities whilst underpinning the 
council’s statutory housing 
responsibilities to ensure preventative 
initiatives are central to service 
delivery. 

The HPG is the primary central 
government funding stream to assist 
the council and wider community in 
delivering their homeless services. The 
grant is ring fenced to ensure local 
authorities are fully resourced to take 
action to prevent homelessness and to 
continue to embed the changes 
required through implementation of the 
Homelessness. 

The HPG reserve was outlined in a 
previous Cabinet report CB3340 and 
this report indicated how the council 
would spend part of the reserve. The 
council is now in a position to allocate 
part of the reserve to projects outlined 
in the report.  

4 What are the associated objectives of 
this work? 

Support the council to continue to meet 
its legislative duties under the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 

To prevent and end rough sleeping by 
increasing activities to prevent single 
household homelessness. 

Reduce the number of families living in 
temporary accommodation by 
maximising family homeless prevention 
opportunities. 

To reduce the use of bed and breakfast 
and emergency accommodation for 
families providing more stable interim 
housing opportunities.  

 

To deliver the core strategic grants to 
Trinity Winchester and The Beacon.  

To support The Beacon following 
Hampshire County Council cuts to 

Page 24



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

Social Inclusion funding.  

5 Who is intended to benefit from this 
work and in what way? 

All residents of the Winchester District 
who are threatened with 
homelessness, homeless, history of or 
are rough sleeping or seeking general 
housing advice. 

6 What are the outcomes sought from 
this work? 

To prevent homelessness, reduce the 
risk of homelessness and eradicate 
rough sleeping for residents of 
Winchester.  

7 What factors/forces could contribute 
or detract from the outcomes? 

External factors outside the control of 
the council could affect the outcome 
and delivery of the plan due to having 
to respond to factor such as economic 
factors, the cost of living, 
consequences of the lifting of evictions 
after the pandemic, the war in Ukraine, 
full asylum dispersal or the possibility 
of the closure of one of the partnering 
organisations that are delivering an 
intervention. 

8 Who are the key individuals and 
organisations responsible for the 
implementation of this work?  

Strategic Housing Service, Winchester 
City Council Landlord Services,  
Hampshire County Council, NHS 
England, Mental Health Services, 
Registered Providers, Private 
Landlords, The Beacon, Trinity, 
A2Dominion, Two Saints and other 
organisations in the voluntary sector. 

9 Who implements the policy or project 
and who or what is responsible for it? 

Strategic Housing Service, Winchester 
City Council. 

 

  Please select your answer in bold. 
Please provide detail here.  

10a Could the policy or project have 
the potential to affect individuals or 
communities on the basis of race 
differently in a negative way? 

 
Y 

 
N 

No-each intervention is 
available of any resident of 
WCC who is threatened with or 
homeless, accessible at free of 
point of delivery. 
 
 

10b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

WCC Census (2011) 91.8% residents are 
White British, in 2022, 85.9% of Housing 
options customers were White British 
compared to 90% in 2021 , so other race 
groups would have been higher 
represented ensuring these ethnic groups 

Page 25



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

are not negatively affected by the service. 
 
The council has participated in the 
Syrian, Afghanistan and Ukrainian 
resettlement scheme, delivering a 
bespoke service in additional to our 
statutory and prevention services 
provided to all residents 

11a Could the policy or project have 
the potential to affect individuals or 
communities on the basis of sex 
differently in a negative way? 

 
Y 

 
N 

No-each intervention is 
available of any resident of 
WCC who is threatened with or 
homeless, accessible at free of 
point of delivery 

11b  What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

The latest data from our Homeless 
system show; 
29% male (single or with children) 
42% female (single or with children) 
29% couples with children 
 
 

12a Could the policy or project have 
the potential to affect individuals or 
communities on the basis of 
disability differently in a negative 
way? 
 
(you may wish to consider: 

 Physical access 

 Format of information 

 Time of interview or 
consultation event 

 Personal assistance 

 Interpreter  

 Induction loop system 

 Independent living 
equipment 

 Content of interview) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Y 

 
 
 
 
 
 
N 

Trinity/Beacon/Westview have 
disabled access to 
accommodation, they are key 
partners in delivering the 
interventions outlined in the 
spending plan. 
Our partnering agencies have 
their own equality polices 
All staff have access to 
translation services, such as Big 
Word/Language Line 
Induction loop System is 
available 
Literature can be translated into 
different languages, larger type, 
Braille. 
The City Council’s provide a 
homeless out of hours service 
available 24/7, 365 days of the 
year 

12b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

2011 Census – 15.5% registered with a 
disability. 
  
Housing Options data in 2022 recorded 
32.4% applicants registered with a 
physical disability (not including other 
disabilities) compared to 22% in 2021. 
Those with disabilities therefore are likely 
to have greater access to interventions 

Page 26



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

through this budget. 
 

13a Could the policy or project have 
the potential to affect individuals or 
communities on the basis of sexual 
orientation differently in a negative 
way? 

 
Y 

 
N 

No-each intervention is 
available of any resident of 
WCC who is threatened with or 
homeless, accessible at free of 
point of delivery. 
 

13b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

81.7% Heterosexual 
2.8% Homosexual 
5.6% Other (This compares to 2% in 
2021) 
9.9% Prefer not to say 
No comparator  

14a Could the policy or project have 
the potential to affect individuals on 
the basis of age differently in a 
negative way? 

 
Y 
 

 
N 

No, the service will support 
anyone of any age. 
WCC and HCC have a joint 
working protocol for 16-17 year 
olds who are at risk 
homelessness or who are 
homeless. 
This plan supports an 
intervention that funds 2 young 
person beds in partnership with 
the County and A2 Dominion. 

14b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

Funding two young person beds 
 
 

15a Could the policy or project have 
the potential to affect individuals or 
communities on the basis of 
religious belief differently in a 
negative way? 

 
Y 

 
N 

No-each intervention is 
available of any resident of 
WCC who is threatened with or 
homeless, accessible at free of 
point of delivery. 
 

15b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

 
Census 2011 63% Christian, 10% Other 
 
Not recorded on HCLIC 
 

16a Could this policy or project have 
the potential to affect individuals on 
the basis of gender reassignment 
differently in a negative way? 

 
Y 

 
N 

No 

16b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

Not currently recorded. 

17a Could this policy or project have 
the potential to affect individuals on 

 
Y 

 
N 

Interventions are in accordance 
with  legislation, statute, the 

Page 27



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

the basis of marriage and civil 
partnership differently in a negative 
way? 

Council’s Housing Strategy, 
Council’s rough sleepers and 
homeless prevention strategy. 
The council also works within 
other legislation such as the as 
Matrimonial Act 1973, 1996 
Family Law Act 

17b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

No data on marriage  

18a Could this policy or project have 
the potential to affect individuals on 
the basis of pregnancy and 
maternity differently in a negative 
way? 

 
Y 

 
N 

Intervention available to all 
Extra protection in homeless 
legislation for pregnancy if 
facing homelessness or 
threatened with homelessness. 

18b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

 

 

19 Could any negative impacts that you 
identified in questions 10a to 15b 
create the potential for the policy to 
discriminate against certain groups 
on the basis of protected 
characteristics? 

 
Y 

 
N 

No 

20 Can this negative impact be justified 
on the grounds of promoting equality 
of opportunity for certain groups on 
the basis of protected 
characteristics? Please provide your 
answer opposite against the relevant 
protected characteristic. 

 
 
 
 
Y 

 
 
 
 
N 

Race:  

Sex: 

Disability: 

Sexual orientation: 

Age:  

Gender reassignment: 

Pregnancy and maternity:  

Marriage and civil partnership: 

Religious belief:  

21 How will you mitigate any potential 
discrimination that may be brought 
about by your policy or project that 
you have identified above? 

Not applicable 

22 Do any negative impacts that you 
have identified above impact on your 
service plan? 

 
Y 
 

 
N 

No 

 

 
Signed by completing 
officer 
 

Charlotte Quinn, Housing Options Manager 07/02/2023 

 
Signed by lead officer  

Karen Thorburn, Service Lead- Strategic Housing 
07/02/2023 

Page 28



  CAB3393(H) 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

CAB3375(H) 
CABINET COMMITTEE: HOUSING 

 
 

REPORT TITLE: PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING RENEWAL STRATEGY 
 
21 MARCH 2023 

REPORT OF CABINET MEMBER: Cllr Ferguson, Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Community and Housing 

Contact Officer:  Karen Thorburn Tel No: 01962 848 076 Email 
kthorburn@winchester.gov.uk  

WARD(S):  ALL 
 

 

 
PURPOSE 

Proposals in the report directly support the priorities ‘Homes for all’ and ‘Living Well’ 
identified within the Council Plan.  

The Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy supports the council’s broader 
strategic housing aims: 

a) To maximise the supply of high-quality affordable housing in urban and 
rural areas 

b) To improve the housing circumstances of vulnerable and excluded 
households  

The improvement of poor condition privately owned or rented sector accommodation 
is a key priority for the council. Properties left in poor condition can have a harmful 
effect on the health, safety and well-being of their occupants and the local 
community and environment.  

This report introduces a revised Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy for 2023-
2028 which sets out how the council will; 

a) Use its powers to ensure properties are maintained and brought up to the 
right standard 

b) Use grant funds to allow people to adapt their homes so residents can 
continue to live independently 

c) To promote carbon reduction measures in the private sector housing stock 
and improve energy efficiency 

Page 31

Agenda Item 9



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

d) To offer advice, assistance, and support to private sector tenants around 
issues such as damp and mould  

The revised strategy has one notable variation from the existing strategy, to charge 
fees for formal notices served under various legislation 

The proposed Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) policy has various changes from the 
existing policy which are outlined in paragraph 14 of the report and listed in 
recommendation 3. The changes to the policy specifically revise the use of the 
discretionary funding element of the DFG allocation.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

1. That the Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy for 2023-2028 as set out in 
Appendix A of the report be approved.  

2. Approve the proposed fee structure for Housing Act and Mobile Home Act 
notices detailed in paragraph 11.13 of this report and  

3. That the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) policy for 2023-2025 as set out in 
Appendix B is approved and in particular note the new changes: 

 Introduction of new discretionary grants in the form of Welfare, Heating, 
Relocation and Top Up grant 

 Approve that the discretionary grant level is capped at a maximum of 

£100k 

 

 Approve that any Local Land Charge placed on a property will have no 
expiry date and the charge will be an interest free loan. 

 To approve the revised formula for the client’s contribution towards the 
DFG above the discretionary and mandatory amounts as outlined in 
paragraph 12.31 and Appendix C of this report. 

 That the better care fund reserve is utilised to fund an additional 
Disabled Facilities Case Officer to accelerate the support provided via 
Disabled Facilities Grants. 

 

Page 32



  CAB3375(H) 
 
 
 

IMPLICATIONS: 
 
1 COUNCIL PLAN OUTCOME  

1.1 Tackling the Climate Emergency and Creating a Greener District 

The strategy details how a combination of enforcement and financial 
assistance (central Government funded) will be used to improve the energy 
efficiency of the private sector housing stock in Winchester. 

 
1.2 Homes for all 

The strategy aims to maintain a good standard of private rented housing 
accommodation through the use of support to both landlords and tenants, with 
enforcement generally used only as a tool of last resort. 

The private rented sector in Winchester plays a vital role in ensuring there is 
sufficient housing within the district and a supportive, rather than aggressive, 
approach to landlords is adopted in order to encourage landlords to remain in 
the market. 

Providing DFG grant funding towards adaptations for people with disabilities 
that enables them to remain living independently in their own homes helps to 
create more diverse, healthy and cohesive communities and allows more 
people with disabilities and their families to remain living and working in the 
district.    

1.3 Vibrant Local Economy 

A fair and reasonable strategy will attract landlords to remain in the 
Winchester district helping to ensure the continued supply of a range of 
accommodation options for people to live and work in the district. 

1.4 Living Well 

We want all residents to live healthy and fulfilled lives in decent and affordable 
accommodation. The provision of good quality housing is linked to and has a 
positive impact on wellbeing and health inequalities. This is detailed further in 
point 2.13 of the report. 

1.5 Your Services, Your Voice 

To ensure all residents have the opportunity to make their voice heard, there 
needs to be a focus on accessibility and inclusiveness so that the services 
outlined in this strategy can be accessed and used by all. Residents are 
consulted on the design of the adaptation when applying for a disabled 
facilities grant which enables a successful outcome for residents. 

 

Page 33



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

2 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

The proposed fees for service of formal Notices will result in a small income 
estimated at under £3000 per annum on past history. The object of charging 
is to encourage landlords to carry out works without the need for formal notice 
to be served.  

For the financial year 2022/23 the council was allocated £1,231,035 in DFG 
grant allocation, which was the same as the previous financial year. It has 
been reported that the DFG grant allocation to local authorities will likely not 
increase and will remain the same up until and including financial year 
2024/25.  

Despite the restrictions imposed by the pandemic in 2020/21 the DFG service 
(which sits within the Strategic Housing Service) awarded £938k of its annual 
allocation. Since January 2022 the DFG Service has been staffed by two full 
time case officers and a Housing Occupational Therapist (OT). It is 
anticipated this year that based upon our current and committed spend to 
date, and a projection of likely referrals and inflationary related cost increases 
that the DFG award for 2022/23 will be fully allocated.  As at 3rd  March 2023 
£1,031,736 of the DFG award had been spent and a further £644,802 
committed.  

3 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS  

3.1 Ongoing legal support will be provided, as required, in relation to this strategy.  

A procurement process was undertaken last year in conjunction with 
Hampshire County Council to secure a framework of approved contractors to 
deliver the installation of wet rooms, the value of which is invariably below 
£10k. We offer grant applicants the opportunity to use one of the approved 
contractors on that list, but they are not bound to accept the offer. The terms 
of the contractors’ place on the list also does not guarantee them work. In 
respect of the new grants we are offeringwelfare and heating,each individual 
grant will be under £10k, as the maximum for each is £2k and £4k 
respectively and £8k in respect of the relocation grant. All of the new grants 
we are offering will be covered by the council’s current procurement 
framework.  

4 WORKFORCE IMPLICATIONS  

4.1 Currently, there is 1 x grade 5, 1 x grade 4 and 1 Occupational Therapist 
administering the council’s DFG applications. This report proposes recruiting 
an additional grade 4 post. This post will support the existing officers in 
administering the Disabled Facilities Grant applications inclusive of the 
referrals currently waiting to start the application process. There are between 
30-40 referrals on the waiting list at any one time. This post will be funded 
from the accumulated underspend of this grant from previous years. If fees 
are charged on Disabled Facilities Grants in line with existing practice then 
the reserve will be replenished.   

Page 34



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

5 PROPERTY AND ASSET IMPLICATIONS  

Recommendations within the report have no impact on council property and 
assets.  

6 CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION  

6.1 The strategy has been presented to Business and Housing Policy Committee 
(BHP) for review and comment on 6th October 2022. The Strategy and policy 
was well received and supported by the committee and offered positive 
feedback. The committee asked the council to consider selective licensing, 
and this is addressed in point 12.13 of the report. It was also agreed that the 
second recommendation of the BHP report of officers exploring the possibility 
of a Grant Assisted Fund for private sector rented and owner occupiers was 
rejected due to the council ensuring best use of limited resources. The BHP 
committee were of the view that using limited resources to provide assistance 
to owner occupiers and property owning landlords was hard to justify with the 
current resource limitations of the council. 

The DFG policy was presented to and discussed with TACT (Tenants and 
Council Together) group. The report was well received and TACT were 
appreciative of the presentation as they were unaware of the DFG and a 
number of their friends and relatives could be eligible. TACT also highlighted 
the need for better promotion of the DFG and resource limitations the council 
is having to manage.  

All Private Sector Housing (PSH) team members were consulted on the 
content of the strategy and policy during a team meeting on 7th December 
2022. 

Foundations, the government appointed advisory organisation for Disabled 
Facilities Grants, were consulted with regard to the DFG aspect of the 
strategy. Constructive feedback was provided by Foundations, advising the 
council to separate the DFG policy and procedures.  

The council consulted with the Home Adaptations Policy Team at the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) to confirm 
the legality and feasibility of being able to offer discretionary grants / loans in 
excess of £30k using DFG funding. DLUHC confirmed it is a legitimate use of 
the DFG funding that is awarded to the council. 

7 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS 

7.1 Providing access to advice and funding initiatives regarding improvement of 
heating systems and home insulation reduces carbon emissions. Where 
replacement works are undertaken to upgrade a heating system the 
applicant/resident will be encouraged to install a heating system and 
insulation to achieve an EPC rating of at least band C. This is explained in 
more detail in the Strategy (Appendix A).  

Page 35



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

Providing advice, assistance and remedies to residents in the private rented 
sector regarding damp, mould and ventilation management with their homes. 

 
8 PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITIES DUTY & EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

8.1 The Equalities Act 2010 imposes a duty on the council, when exercising its 
functions, to have due regard to the need to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 
Having due regard for advancing equality involves: 

 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics. 

 Taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where 
these are different from the needs of other people. 

 Encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life 
or in other activities where their participation is disproportionately low 

8.2 An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed which has considered 
those with ‘protected equality characteristics’ and has identified that the 
Strategy and/or DFG Policy will not negatively impact on any of those groups.  
This can be found in appendix D 

9 DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

9.1 All applicants sign the council’s GDPR privacy notice as part of the DFG 
application.  All sensitive client information is stored on the council’s record 
keeping system.  

 
10 RISK MANAGEMENT  

Risk  Mitigation Opportunities 

Financial Exposure 

Risk of not committing 

allocated grants awarded 

to the council & funding in 

line with timeframes ( the 

only one the council 

receives at the moment in 

relation to the private 

sector and administered 

by the private sector 

Detailed financial 

monitoring and promotion 

of private sector reports. 

 

Quarterly Budget meeting 

 

 

Officers keep demand 

under review 

Publicity of DFG service 

to attract referrals 

Page 36



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

housing team is the 

Better Care Fund) 

 

The grants awarded 

under or overspend on 

the grant allocation 

 

Private sector grants are 

insufficient to meet the 

needs of residents. 

 

The grants received from 

Government cease 

Exposure to challenge 

Risk of government 

funded grants being 

reduced. 

Currently retain a 

proportion of the grant 

surplus in relation to the 

Better Care Fund 

Exploration of alternative 

funding sources from 

charities, other 

Government initiatives. 

Innovation 

Exploring new funding 

grant opportunities 

/charities 

Will help to achieve the 

spend of the annual DFG 

financial allocation and 

meet the objectives of the 

Better Care Fund 

 

Reputation 

Failing to have and renew 

a/the Private rented 

Sector Renewal Statutory 

would be in breach of 

statute and would result 

in the private sector 

service not being 

supported by clear 

guidance, policies and 

procedures.   

Reviewing/adopting the 

policy means the council 

are not in breach of 

legislation. 

 

Introducing a new DFG 

policy will give clarity and 

guidance to staff and the 

public as to what the DFG 

Service can offer 

residents across the 

district. 

 

Achievement of outcome 

The interventions in the 

various grants awarded 

such as DFG are not 

implemented, and the 

benefits of the grants are 

not realised 

Existing and additional 

Staffing levels remain in 

place to ensure the 

strategy can be 

implemented.  

Keep staffing levels under 

review to ensure the 

council is able to meet 

demand and administer 

the grant fully 

Property 

None 

  

Community Support 

Stakeholders do not 

participate in the delivery 

  

Page 37



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

of the strategy. 

 

Residents do not engage 

or take up the support 

offered by the Private 

Sector Housing team 

Timescales 

Grant applications that 

serve the private rented 

sector are administered 

within the timescales 

outlined in the relevant 

policy  

Grants are available for 

immediate delivery to 

ensure those already in 

need can receive it. 

 

 

 

Project capacity 

If staff resources were 

reduced capacity to 

deliver the full service 

would reduce 

Council Commit to 

existing staff resources to 

ensure service delivery 

 

 
 
11 SUPPORTING INFORMATION: 

11.1 The improvement of poor condition privately owned or rented property is a key 
priority for the Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy. Properties left in 
poor condition can have a harmful effect on the health, safety and well-being 
of its occupants and the local community and environment. 

11.2 The council is required to review the condition of its private sector housing 
stock and establish the most appropriate course of action to bring properties 
up to a satisfactory standard. The council has a wide range of powers and 
practical options to assist through support and guidance up to enforcement 
powers by doing the work and recovering the costs, when owners or landlords 
fail to carry out their responsibilities. The council’s preferred approach has 
been to encourage and support owners and landlords to undertake the work 
needed to improve the quality of its private housing stock, however statutory 
powers are used where necessary. 

11.3 The Department for Levelling-up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) has 
recently issued a directive and demand for information regarding the 
prevalence of damp and mould hazards in the private rented sector (and a 
similar demand has been made of landlords of social housing, including WCC 
property services). The data fed back to DLUHC in response to this matter 
identifies that damp and mould is not a significant matter of concern in the 
private rented sector in the district given the level of complaints received and 
investigated in this regard. Detail of this is included in the table at 12.14. The 
officers will continue to use the appropriate powers as identified in 12.2 to 
deal with damp and mould hazards and to review local conditions within the 
scope of the strategy.  

Page 38



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

          Background  

11.4 The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 
2002 (RRO) provided local authorities with the ability to offer grants to 
improve housing conditions.  The only grant the PSH team currently 
administers is the disabled facilities grant (DFG).  The Order repealed all of 
the previous legislation relating to grants and gave councils wider powers to 
choose how they provide assistance and for what. To exercise this power, a 
council must prepare and publish a Private Sector Renewal Strategy. 

11.5 The Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy is part of a family of strategies 
that underpin the council’s overarching Housing Strategy. The council 
approved the last Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy in 2016. 

11.6 The council last completed a full private sector stock condition survey in 2015 
and updated this using the Building Research Establishment stock modelling 
service and energy data from Absolar Ltd in 2021. At present there is no clear 
reason to consider a new full scale stock condition survey. The data from 
these recent investigations, and the evidence provided by the level of 
complaints received and data gathered during other work such as the HMO 
licensing scheme does not suggest that there are significant matters of 
concern in the district which would be better informed by a detailed survey. 
However, the council will explore the possibility of conducting such a survey 
during the lifetime of this strategy, funding permitting, if evidence changes 
over time. The estimated cost of such a survey is of the order of £75,000. 

11.7 The Better Care Fund allocation methods changed in 2017 in that a proportion 
of the funding was diverted from the NHS to local housing authorities with the 
specific intention for local authorities to use the fund interventions in housing 
to reduce hospital admissions, enable prompter discharge from hospital, and 
delay the need for individuals to transfer to a care setting. Receipt of this 
funding from central government was combined with the existing Disabled 
Facilities Grant allocation, resulting in a substantial increase of grant funding 
from approximately £450k in 2016 to the current grant of £1.2m for 2022. 

11.8 Mandatory HMO Licensing expanded in September 2018 to include all HMOs 
occupied by 5 or more people in 2 or more households, rather than only those 
of 3 storeys or more. 

11.9 The ‘City Lets’ Private Sector Housing scheme closed to new landlords in 
2020, due to financial viability issues caused by large claims made on the 
council’s Security Bond and due to landlords leaving the scheme.  

11.10 Since 2016 there have been legislative changes that have provided additional 
enforcement tools within the Housing and Planning Act 2016, the Electrical 
Safety in the Private Rented Sector (England and Wales) Regulations 2020, 
changes to the Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 
(which come into force on 1st October 2022), the Mobile Homes (Requirement 
for the Manager of a Site to be Fit and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 
2020. 

Page 39



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

Priorities of the Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy 
 

11.11 Insecurity in the private rented sector is a growing problem and the cost-of-
living crisis is likely to have a further impact with challenging rent increases 
and the potential of increased evictions.  A recent recruitment of a Private 
Sector Housing Sustainment Officer will provide tenancy support, advice and 
discretionary financial assistance to help with household costs to prevent the 
threat of homelessness.  

11.12 The broader aims of the strategy have not significantly changed, but a 
strategy revision allows for the inclusion of new revenue streams, and for the 
provision of further targeted support to the private sector to improve private 
sector housing conditions generally.  

11.13 The proposed strategy also suggests creating a Fees Policy to cover all 
aspects of the service for which fees may be charged in one live document. 
These are currently detailed in the various separate polices and an overview 
of each are detailed as below. 

11.14 Fees for Notices (proposed): The Housing Act 2004 and other legislation      
under which the Private Sector Housing team may take enforcement action 
against landlords or HMO or Caravan Site licence holders, allow for the 
charging of a fee for the service of notices. To date the council has not 
adopted this practice. The number of formal notices served each year by the 
council is small (10-15 in a typical year). The purpose of imposing a fee is 
twofold: first it recovers the council’s reasonable costs in serving the notice 
and thereby reducing the council’s expenditure and secondly the imposition of 
a charge encourages the offender to take the required action before a formal 
notice is deemed necessary, resulting in prompter resolutions of unhealthy 
housing conditions. 

Benchmarking against other Hampshire local authorities indicates that fees 
are charged in two formats – either an average fee based on typical time 
spent inspecting a dwelling, assessing the best course of action, serving 
notice and subsequent follow up work, or a direct calculation of time on a case 
by case basis. 

The preferred option is the former – an averaged fee – as this principle is also 
followed in setting HMO Licence fees, Mobile Home Site licence fees and fees 
for handling DFGs. 

 

 

The following table provides the fees charged by other Hampshire authorities 
who responded. 

Charges SCC Havant EBC Test 
Valley 

IOW** 
(guideline 

Page 40



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

charges 
based on 
hourly 
rates 
plus 
costs) 

Improvement Notices  £285-
£475 

£550.00 £515 £5 ph  £663.18 

Prohibition Notices   £333-
£467 

£550.00 £515 £59ph £663.18 

Emergency Prohibition 
Notices  

£333-
£467 

£550.00 £515 £59ph £624.20 

Hazard Awareness Notices  £285-
£475 

£550.00 £0.00 £59ph £360.82-
£555.73 

Emergency Remedial Action  £200.00 £550.00 £515 £59ph  

Demolition order  £323.00 hourly 
costs 

£0.00 £59ph 

Review of order/notice £100.00 hourly 
costs 

 £59ph 

     

 

The proposed fees for WCC are as follows: 

Charges Fee 

Improvement Notices/Mobile Homes Act 2013 
Compliance Notices  

£550 

Prohibition Orders   £550 

Emergency Prohibition Orders  £550 

Hazard Awareness Notices  £550 

Emergency Remedial Action  £550 

Demolition Order/Clearance Area  Hourly 
rates(minimum of 2 
hours of £60  per 
hour) 

Review of suspended Order/Notice £100 

 

Demolition Orders and Clearance Area declarations will be assessed on 
hourly rates as these are too variable and too uncommon to average. This 
work could involve 1 dwelling or an entire neighbourhood, a fixed rate would 
be difficult to set and wouldn’t cover the council’s costs if more than one 
dwelling. 

It should be noted that costs associated with any non-compliance with Notices 
or Orders would be recoverable as part of any prosecution or through the use 
of Financial Penalties where applicable. 

12 Licensing Scheme 

Page 41



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

12.1 HMO Licensing and accreditation: There are currently 361 licenced HMOs 
within the district. Renewal fees (at current rates) for these over the 5 years of 
this Strategy document is 361 x £776 = £280,136. New licences attract a 5-
year fee of £984. There are currently 100 accredited properties for which the 3 
yearly renewal fee is £94, producing an income of approximately £15,000 
over the period of this Strategy document. A new accreditation is charged at 
£138 for the 3 years. 

12.2 Additional or Selective Licensing 

12.3 While it has been proposed that additional or selective licensing for HMOOs 
could be introduced for both Stanmore and Winnall estates, the strategy 
indicates that the introduction of either an Additional Licensing Scheme under 
Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004, to encompass HMOs not requiring mandatory 
licences, or a Selective Licensing Scheme under Part 3 of the Act, to 
encompass all private rented dwellings, either district wide or in discreet 
localities, is not supported given the evidence of current conditions and 
complaints. The table below shows the number of complaints received in the 
preceding 3 years and how many of these were in HMOs, in Stanmore and in 
Winnall, or from Housing Association tenants (which could not be subject to 
licensing). 

Year  Total 
Number of 
complaints 

From 
the 
total - 
How 
many 
were 
Damp 
& 
Mould 

From the 
total - 
How 
many 
were 
HMO’s 

From the 
total - How 
many were 
Housing 
Association 

From the 
total - How 
many were 
in 
Stanmore 

From the 
total - How 
many were 
in Winnall 

2020/2021  100 20 8 17 7 4 

2021/2022  109 21 22 23 11 5 

2022/2023 65 19 8 16 6 0 

 

To introduce such a scheme would require evidence of one or more of the 
following:  

 low housing demand (or is likely to become such an area) 

 a significant and persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour 

 poor property conditions 

 high levels of migration 

 high level of deprivation 

 high levels of crime 

Page 42



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

 A high proportion of private rented dwellings (over 20%)  

 and that the above factors are largely attributable to the private rented 
sector. 

There is no evidence to suggest that any area within the Winchester District 
would reasonably meet these criteria. 

Additional and Selective licencing schemes must also recycle any licence fees 
received into enforcement action within the areas covered by the schemes – 
they cannot be used as a source of general revenue – and there has been a 
low requirement for formal enforcement action generally across the district. 

13 The enforcement tools available can deal with the more extreme cases of 
energy inefficiency through Housing Act 2004 powers and the identification of 
Excess Cold Hazards through the Housing Health and Safety Rating System 
(HHSRS), and the Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards Regulations (MEES) 
which disallow the letting of any dwelling with an EPC rating of F or G (unless 
exempt). These Regulations will change during the lifetime of this strategy to 
disallow any new letting of any residential dwelling with an EPC lower than 
Band C in 2025. 

 

13.1 LEAP (Local Energy Advice Partnership) 

           In autumn 2020 a partnership agreement was signed with Agility ECO to 
promote the LEAP (Local Energy Advice Partnership) initiative. This is a free 
of charge energy and money saving support service offered to fuel poor and 
vulnerable households. It is a nationally run programme with its associated 
infrastructure and training. The LEAP service is completely funded by energy 
suppliers under the Warm Home Discount Industry initiatives and is available 
to owner occupiers / private tenants and social tenants who meet certain 
eligibility criteria:  

            
           Since April 2021 LEAP figures for Winchester up to February 2023 are: 
 

 27 referrals 

 22 in-depth energy advice calls 

 57 Easy Energy Efficiency Measures Installed 

 £10,550.00 savings made 
 
 

 

 
 

13.2 LAD (Local Authority Delivery) Scheme (1a and 1b) 

 
The council, as part of a partnership with Portsmouth City Council and other  

Page 43



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

Local Authorities entered an agreement to promote the installation of energy  
efficiency and carbon reduction measures across the district under LAD 1a.   
This included fully funded Solar Photovoltaic (PV) Panels / solid wall  
Insulate on to owner occupiers and the installation of park home insulation for  
both external wall insulation and underfloor insulation.  
(LAD 1a came to an end on 31st August 2021).  

 
The LAD 1b programme ran until the end of March 2022 and 226 applications  
were received with 55 installations completed of which 30 were solar PV  
Panels.  

 
The council has agreed to continue its partnership with Portsmouth City  
Council and Agility ECO who have been successful in securing £15.7 million  
of funding under LAD 3 which they anticipate will help improve up to  
1,661 on-gas households (these are households with an existing gas  
connection) across the entire local authority consortium area.  

 
The LAD 3 period of funding commenced in January 2022 and will run  
until March 2023, and supports on-gas EPC D, E, F & G rated  
Households with ASHP (air sourced heat pumps), insulation and solar PV with  
up to £10,000 of funding.  
 
The Private Sector Housing team in liaison with the council’s Sustainability 
Manager and the Climate Emergency Team will actively monitor available 
funding streams and initiatives through partnership engagement with 
Portsmouth City Council and Agility ECO and other bodies which present 
themselves. This is to improve the energy efficiency of the entire private 
housing stock and to try to reduce carbon emissions from private housing to 
achieve the ambition of a carbon neutral district by 2030.   

13.3 Winchester Area SuperHomes:  

 
The council supports this initiative run by Winchester Action on Climate 
Change in partnership with the National Energy Foundation and Petersfield 
Climate Action Network, funded by the Energy Redress Scheme. The initiative 
is to create a new service that supports homeowners across Winchester 
District to transform the energy performance of their properties by retrofitting 
to reduce their carbon emissions, as energy in the home is responsible for 
around 20% of direct carbon emissions. Their target is to turn 25 or more 
existing homes in the Winchester District into retrofit SuperHomes show 
homes and support another 125 homes to be assessed and retrofitted. The 
project will provide help with some costs for homeowners on low and middle 
incomes. This will include some of the survey and design costs, plus a 
proportion of the cost of installing solar panels. All homeowners will be helped 
to apply for any available government grants, such as the Renewable Heat 
Incentive. 
 

14. Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG):  

Page 44



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

This is a Government grant allocated to the council by Hampshire County 
Council (HCC) as the administrating authority that is available to pay for 
essential housing adaptations to help people, living with disabilities to remain 
living independently in their own home.  

14.1 The DFG team maintain close working links with NHS discharge and re-
ablement teams to enable necessary adaptations to ensure the safe return to 
home, and continued safety, of patients. 

14.2 In the year 2021/22 the council approved 97 DFG applications with a total 
value of approximately £1.1m. Of these: 

 6 grants were approved under the mandatory part of the Disabled 
Facilities Grant and are means tested which means that some people may 
have to pay a contribution towards the grant. 

 86 grants were discretionary grants of under £15,000, awarded to 
applicants that would not have qualified for assistance under the 
mandatory part of the Disabled Facilities Grant. The discretionary element 
of the grant funding ensures housing need is met and reduces the need 
for residential care and hospitalisation. 

 5 grants are discretionary grants specifically targeted to prevent hospital 
admission or care breakdown.  

 Comparable approvals in preceding years:  

    Financial 
Year 

Case 
Numbers 

Grant Allocated 

2017/18 80 £580k 

2018/19 73 £785k 

2019/20 70 £1.34 m 

2020/21 78 £888k 

 

14.3 There is both a mandatory and discretionary element to DFGs. All local  
authorities must operate the mandatory scheme but Winchester is the only 
local authority in Hampshire to have such a generous discretionary ‘Top Up’ 
scheme above £30k. Under the new proposed policy, the maximum 
discretionary grant will be capped at £100k inclusive of the £30k mandatory 
entitlement and all associated fees.  

Mandatory – to fund any DFG works judged ‘necessary and appropriate’ to 
meet the client’s needs and when it is ‘reasonable and practicable’ to carry 
them out having regard to the age, condition or internal layout etc. of the 
dwelling. The majority of mandatory DFG works undertaken are for showers, 

Page 45



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

wet rooms, ramping and stair lifts. The maximum funding level is up to 
£30,000 for children’s DFGs and those on pass-porting benefits for example 
Universal Credit / Guaranteed Pension Credit / Housing Benefit. 

           Discretionary - the council under its current DFG policy is able to offer 
discretionary grants. These have been provided for funding schemes which 
exceed the mandatory limit of £30k and for any grant under £15k. 

The policy sets out both the mandatory legal framework and the discretionary 
element proposed by the council for DFGs and how the council will use its 
powers under the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and 
Wales) Order 2002 (RRO) to provide discretionary grant assistance in order to 
promote independent living and well-being for residents in the Winchester 
district. 

In order for the council to use its discretionary powers under the RRO it must 
have a policy. The new DFG policy sets out the intentions and obligations of 
the council to deliver DFGs including, but not restricted to, the introduction of 
a new discretionary DFG Welfare, Heating, Top Up and Relocation grant. It 
also caps the discretionary grant funding level at a maximum of £100,000. 

14.4 The rational for setting a maximum cap on discretionary grants is in order to     
ensure that the budget can be more evenly spread to meet increasing need, 
particularly as there is no indication from central Government that the DFG 
allocation will be uplifted and it is anticipated inflationary cost pressures are 
likely to remain high in the near future.  This will help meet local demand and 
assist in the council being able to offer the maximum possible number of 
DFGs, so that more adaptations reach those who need them the most.  

Using its powers under the RRO the council will provide the first £15,000 for 
works under any grant application regardless of the assessed contribution of 
the applicant. Those applicants assessed as needing to contribute to the cost 
of works will only be required to contribute when the costs exceed the £15,000 
threshold. 

Main Changes from Previous Policy  

14.5 The council wishes to use its full discretion by introducing in the spirit of the 
Better Care Fund new discretionary DFG grants. These are consistent with 
the broader aims set down in the DFG Delivery Guidance for Local Authorities 
in England and will enable people to remain living with greater independence 
at home in safe, warm and suitable housing, and will enable / help facilitate 
the discharge of patients in hospital back into their homes to prevent bed 
blocking. 

14.6 It is proposed that four new specific discretionary DFG grants are introduced.  
These have been reviewed by an independent external technical accounting 
adviser as well as the council’s Section 151 officer to ensure that the 
increased scope and range of grants proposed is acceptable use of the Better 
Care Fund. The advice received approved the implementation, scope and 

Page 46



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

range of grants proposed, with some slight revisions. The DFG policy has 
been amended to reflect the received advice. 

The four proposed grants are:  

Welfare Grant – to fund small scale works which are critical to a client’s   
welfare which have been identified by a social worker or other professional. 
Type of works will include deep cleans and declutters and minor essential 
works which should reasonably reduce or remove the risk or hazard. The 
maximum grant funding level available will be up to £2,000. 

The grant will contribute towards converting a home that cannot currently be 
inhabited by the person applying for the grant into one which can be. For 
example by cleaning / decluttering of the kitchen/living room/ 
hallway/bathroom/bedroom (and extra bedrooms if there is a need for carers 
to stay overnight) in particular in preparation of the installation of equipment. 

Heating Grant – Replacement of boilers, radiators and other substantial 
components of heating systems to bring systems and equipment up to a 
higher standard of reliability, safety or usability as might be required by an 
owner occupier with disabilities, or to restore use of heating and hot water for 
vulnerable owner occupiers. Referrals for this grant need to come directly 
from specific organisations such as Local Energy Advice Partnership (LEAP), 
Hampshire County Council’s ‘Hitting the Cold Spots’ or The Environment 
Centre (TEC) etc. This will ensure that the appropriate screening has been 
applied to the client’s circumstances i.e. they will be on pass-porting benefits 
and disabled. For clients in the community who are not on any income 
assessed benefits who come into contact with the council’s DFG service and 
are in need  may be assisted if  they can prove they do not have savings in 
excess of £6,000. This is in line with Universal Credit savings limits. The 
maximum grant funding level available will be up to £4,000 

Relocation Grant – to assist disabled persons, who are owner/occupiers to 
relocate to another property if adaptations to their current home through the 
DFG are determined not to be reasonable or practicable and they are 
considering relocation to another more suitable property they intend to 
purchase as their home. Such assistance supports best value by ensuring 
DFG grant funding is focused on properties where adaptations can be 
reasonably delivered and enabling people to move where this is not the case. 
The maximum grant funding level available will be up to £8,000. 

Top Up Grant – to facilitate more complex and expensive adaptations for 
eligible clients who are owner occupiers or social housing tenants of 
Registered Social Landlords (RSLs). The maximum grant funding level 
available will be up to £100,000 inclusive of all work costs and fees 
associated with the works including but not limited to a contingency 
allowance; architect, agent and planning fees and the council’s DFG service 
charge etc.  

Page 47



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

14.7 DFGs are exclusive to home owners and private rented and registered social 
landlord (RSL) tenants. As the council has a Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) it is expected that it should self-fund adaptations to its own housing 
stock for council tenants through this account. Therefore there is a separate 
policy for council tenants seeking adaptations. 

14.8 An internal audit report undertaken by Southern Internal Audit Partnership in 
December 2021 made 3 main recommendations to the DFG service: 

 To update and review the current DFG policy and procedures 

 To update the list of approved contractors 

 To increase performance monitoring 

14.9 Local Land Charge and Client Contributions 

The previous policy had a formula in order to determine a client’s contribution 
towards discretionary works that exceed either £15,000 or £30,000. The new 
policy recommends the following new formula: 

 One or both of the applicants are in receipt of a means tested benefit - they do 

not make a contribution but the cost of the works that exceeds £30,000 would 

be placed on the property as a local land charge. An example is illustrated in 

Appendix C 

 Applicants who are not in receipt  of a means tested benefit - An assessment 

is carried out using ‘Ferret’(Government’s means testing assessment tool) to 

determine what their contribution should be and this will be paid upon the 

completion of works. The new policy will require the applicant to contribute 

10% of the Ferret means tested contribution above their discretionary or 

mandatory award and the remainder will be placed on the property as a local 

land charge. Examples are illustrated in Appendix C. 

 

If the applicant is a RSL tenant the applicant’s contribution would remain the 

same apart for a charge not being applied to the property. Please see 

Appendix C for an illustration. 

Before the grant is agreed an assessment tool (a tool to determine the 
properties qualification for a legal charge) will be completed by the case 
officer and signed off by a senior officer to ensure the applicant is in a position 
to have a land charge applied on the property. This assessment tool will be 
devised in conjunction with the council’s Financial and Legal services and 
signed off by the council’s section 151 officer. 
 
The legal charge will no longer be time limited to 10 years. Having a legal 
charge that doesn’t expire means that the council is guaranteed to have the 
money returned when the property is sold or disposed of. As before this will 
ensure available funds are recycled to help more households.  

Page 48



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

 
The council still has the ability to waver this charge if the client would suffer 
financial hardship but this would be considered on a case by case basis. 
Should a client wish to contribute more than 10% to the works to eradicate or 
reduce the charge on the property this would be acceptable. To date the 
council hasn’t wavered a charge due to financial hardship. 
 

14.10 Upper Limit on discretionary grants (Top up Grant) over £30,000 

14.11 The funding limit for this type of grant will be capped at £100,000 inclusive of 
all work costs and fees associated with the works. These will include but are 
not limited to a contingency fee, architect and planning fees and Winchester 
City Council’s service charge etc.  

14.12 For applicants entitled to up to £30,000 mandatory funding this translates into 
a £30,000 mandatory grant and discretionary £70,000 Top Up Grant. For 
applicants not entitled to mandatory funding this translates to a £15,000 
discretionary grant and a £85,000 discretionary Top Up Grant 

14.13 Previously there was no upper limit on top up grants but the cost of living 
crisis and inflationary cost pressures have caused a significant cost increase 
in the delivery of projects such as extensions. The DFG budget we are 
allocated from central government is likely to remain static until 2025 and will 
not be raised in line with inflation. This essentially means a cut to our budget 
over the next few years. The budget needs to be available to cover the needs 
of everyone in the district who is referred into our service. A limit on projects 
allows an element of control and is a clear benchmark for the client which 
ensures funding will only address what clients essentially require in their home 
as determined by an Occupational Therapist. 

14.14 The Private Sector Housing team in liaison with the council’s Sustainability 
Manager and the Climate Emergency Team will actively monitor available 
funding streams and initiatives through partnership engagement with 
Portsmouth City Council and Agility ECO and other bodies which present 
themselves. This is to improve the energy efficiency of the entire private 
housing stock and to try to reduce carbon emissions from private housing to 
achieve the ambition of a carbon neutral district by 2030.  

 
14.15 The Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy is a legal requirement to enable 

the council to determine how it spends financial assistance in the form of 
grants to assist people directly living in the private housing sector. The 
strategy is also about setting priorities to enable that housing renewal services 
are effective and appropriate. In addition to grants this will involve the council 
providing assistance via third parties and signposting to ensure it can support 
the council’s ambitions to reduce carbon emissions within the private rented 
housing stock through joint initiatives as set out below.   

   
15 CONCLUSION  

Page 49



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

15.1 The revised Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy updates the council’s 
approach to delivering the varied services provided by the Private Sector 
Housing team to improve the quality of privately owned or rented property 
across the district. The strategy now incorporates the council’s enforcement 
and Disabled Facilities Grant work and promotion of wider energy efficiency 
work within the private sector housing stock to reduce carbon emissions and 
to help reduce fuel poverty.   

It is recommended that the council adopts the proposed DFG Policy 2023 – 
2025 in full; adopts the four new discretionary grants; agrees to the 
discretionary grant level cap of £100k; that any Local Land Charge placed on 
a property will have no expiry date; that the service charge remains the same 
at 12%  and authority is delegated to the Corporate Head of Housing in 
consultation with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Community and 
Housing to enable them to make minor changes when required to the DFG 
policy. 

16 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS   

 
16.1    So as to accelerate the administration of the DFG based on the approach 

proposed in this report there will be a need to increase officer resource on a 
temporary basis. This is described above in that the existing grant reserve will 
be used to fund the additional post and due to the fee charging on approved 
grants the cost of the post will be reimbursed back into the reserve.  
 

17.      OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED  

17.1    The council could consider not having a Private Sector Renewal Strategy.  

This is rejected as the terms of the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance)    
England and Wales) Order 2002 requires a local authority to have such a 
strategy in place if it wishes to use its discretionary powers to provide funding 
assistance to private owners and landlords. The council already uses these 
powers successfully to deliver the discretionary funding element of Disabled 
Facilities Grants and Better Care Funding 

17.2   The strategy initially suggested the setting up of a Financial Assistance Fund 
 at providing financial assistance through grants or loans to fund essential  
           repairs for owners or landlords who meet certain criteria, recognising that in 
           the current financial climate there are many households who may struggle to 
           fund such repairs readily. BHP committee on 6th October 2022 recommended 
           that this be removed but that members continue to support an exploration of  
           the possibility of introducing such a scheme.  

  17.3    The strategy does not seek a full financial contribution from DFG applicants 
             due to affordability issues as is illustrated in Appendix C. If the existing policy 

were to continue for DFG it would not protect against the fixed grant funding 
being able to cope with increased demand. Therefore, retaining the existing 
approach is not recommended.  

Page 50



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:- 

Previous Committee Reports (2016):- 

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/Data/Cabinet%20(Housing)%20Committee/201603221
600/Agenda/CAB2789-HSG-.pdf  

BHP36 / Disabled Facilities Grants / 29 November 2022  

Other Background Documents:- 

Current Private Sector Renewal Strategy - Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy 

2016 to 2021.pdf (itss.local) 

Enforcement Policy (currently under revision) –
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/assets/attach/24727/PSH-Enforcement-Policy-
2020.pdf 

Empty Homes Policy (recently approved) - 
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/assets/attach/33276/WCC-Empty-Homes-Strategy-
2022-27.pdf 

Caravan Licensing Policy 2021 - Camping and Mobile Home Sites - Winchester City 

Council 

DFG Policy - https://www.winchester.gov.uk/assets/attach/19843/DFG-Policy-and-
ProcedureV11-August-2019.pdf 

APPENDICES: 

Appendix A: Draft Private Sector Renewal Strategy 2023-2028 

Appendix B: Draft Disabled Facilities Grant Policy 2023 – 2025 

Appendix C: Illustration of the formula for the 10% contribution 

Appendix D: Equality Impact Assessment  

 

Page 51

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/Data/Cabinet%20(Housing)%20Committee/201603221600/Agenda/CAB2789-HSG-.pdf
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/Data/Cabinet%20(Housing)%20Committee/201603221600/Agenda/CAB2789-HSG-.pdf
file://///itss.local/DFS_WC/userdata/kthorburn/Downloads/Private%20Sector%20Housing%20Renewal%20Strategy%202016%20to%202021.pdf
file://///itss.local/DFS_WC/userdata/kthorburn/Downloads/Private%20Sector%20Housing%20Renewal%20Strategy%202016%20to%202021.pdf
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/assets/attach/24727/PSH-Enforcement-Policy-2020.pdf
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/assets/attach/24727/PSH-Enforcement-Policy-2020.pdf
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/assets/attach/33276/WCC-Empty-Homes-Strategy-2022-27.pdf
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/assets/attach/33276/WCC-Empty-Homes-Strategy-2022-27.pdf
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/housing/private-housing-and-empty-properties/caravan-licence-application-or-renewal
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/housing/private-housing-and-empty-properties/caravan-licence-application-or-renewal
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/assets/attach/19843/DFG-Policy-and-ProcedureV11-August-2019.pdf
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/assets/attach/19843/DFG-Policy-and-ProcedureV11-August-2019.pdf


  CAB3375(H) 
 
 
 

Appendix A  

                                                                                                                                          

                                                                                                                                                                     

PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING RENEWAL STRATEGY (Draft) 

                      2023-2028 

1.0       Introduction  

1.1 Private Sector Housing sits within Housing Services and has a vital role to 

play in the Council’s wider strategic housing activity. There is a direct 

relationship between our housing environment and our health. It is a 

general principle that housing should always provide an environment 

which is safe and healthy for the occupants. 

1.2 This strategy, and the policies supporting it, applies to all privately owned 

homes, i.e. all dwellings (houses, flats, caravans etc.) that are not owned 

by the Council, including those owned or run by housing associations and 

it specifically outlines the Council’s strategic approach to:  

 Identifying and dealing with unsatisfactory or unsuitable housing 

conditions  

 Providing advice and assistance with regard to unsatisfactory or 

unsuitable housing conditions 

 Taking enforcement action with regard to unsatisfactory or 

unsuitable housing conditions  

 Maintaining standards by operation of licensing schemes for 

Houses in Multiple Occupation and Caravan Sites  

 Improving the energy efficiency of the private sector housing stock   

 Providing adaptations to meet the needs of disabled residents in 

their homes through Disabled Facility Grants, or by  

 Providing grants and loans under the Better Care Fund  

 Providing financial assistance to achieve other housing policy aims 

of the Council 

 Reducing the level of long term Empty Homes in the district 

 Handling comments and complaints in relation to any of the 

Council’s housing renewal functions  

 

1.3 This strategy provides the outline – the framework – to which the Private 

Sector Housing department operates. The strategy is then supported by 

several Policy documents, namely: 

 Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy – which details how the 

various legislative powers relating to housing conditions will be 

applied. 

 Disabled Facility Grant and Better Care Fund Policy – which details 

how applications for grant or other assistance for people with 

disabilities will be managed, and the additional financial support 

Page 52



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

available through the Better Care Fund and the Regulatory Reform 

(Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002. 

 Empty Homes Policy – which details how owners of empty property 

will be encouraged to return the homes to use. 

 Financial Assistance Policy – discretionary assistance for essential 

repairs, DFGs and provisions under the Better Care Fund.  

 Fees Policy – details of fees for licences and services. 

 

2.0                  The Private Rented Sector –  the context  for identifying 

unsatisfactory or unsuitable housing conditions 

 

2.1 The private rental sector (PRS) is an important part of the provision of 
housing in Winchester, as it is across England. It is not only vital in 
providing a home for the approximately 20,000 people that live in it, and a 
living for those that are landlords, but also has a wider impact upon the 
economy and community of the city. 

2.2 The legislative and policy framework which surrounds the renting of private 

homes is complex and has developed over a number of years, with a 

focus on health and safety, home standards and the requirements 

surrounding tenancies. Government has clearly indicated that more 

legislation can be expected, particularly with the ending of Section 21‘no 

fault’ evictions. 

2.3 The licencing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) has been a major 
change in recent years but only covers a part of the HMO sector, and 
whilst mandatory licencing has enabled the council to focus on the 
standards within in-scope properties, there are still many HMOs that are 
not licensable and which may have a detrimental effect on the 
neighbourhoods in which they are typically located, particularly with 
regards to waste management and anti-social behavior. 

2.4 Winchester’s private rented sector is still largely a suppliers market with 

demand continuing to gradually rise, partly as a result of the student 

population and partly due to increasing numbers not able to own their own 

home and the slow shrinkage of the social rented sector has this come 

from the BRE stock report if so good to reference. 2022 has also seen an 

influx of Ukrainian refugees to the UK with Winchester taking a larger 

number than many similar authorities. These refugees are likely to need to 

access the private rented sector when the initial hosting arrangement 

ends. In many cases market rents are significantly above local housing 

allowance rates, what those on benefits can reasonably be expected to 

afford, and access often requires a significant deposit, rent in advance 

and/or a guarantor. 

2.5 Maintaining a healthy private rented sector is vital to the broader local 
housing strategy and in providing safe secure and affordable homes for all, 
and the Private Sector Housing team has a central role to play in 
encouraging landlords to provide such housing. 

Page 53



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

2.6 The Private Sector Housing Team also has a role to play in encouraging 
tenants to play their part by ensuring that they pay their rent on time, take 
care of their home, act within the terms of their tenancy agreement, be 
good neighbours, and, most importantly, communicate with their landlord 
or landlord’s agent during the time of their tenancy. 

2.7 Many of the landlords with properties in the city are individuals with small 
portfolios or even single properties to let, and are doing so either as an 
investment or have obtained property unintentionally as a result of family 
bereavement or work taking them elsewhere. The additional regulations 
imposed in recent years have been complex and have added overheads to 
the cost of letting their properties, not all of which may have been passed 
onto tenants in the rent. 

2.8 For many small landlords, keeping up with the ever changing regulations 
has proved difficult and they are consequently the most likely to fall foul of 
them. It is vital that the Private Sector Housing Team provide guidance 
and advice to help educate all landlords and drive standards up. 

2.9 However, regardless of a landlord’s portfolio size, the council should be 
actively making every effort to expose landlords who intentionally or 
through ignorance put the health safety and welfare of their tenants at risk, 
and where necessary taking appropriate enforcement action and imposing 
financial sanctions to deter other landlords from taking a similar approach. 

2.10 In dealing with landlords the Private Sector Housing Team will 
encourage landlords to act in a fair and considerate way towards their 
tenants, offer suitable tenancy arrangements, work with their tenants to 
resolve problems that arise during the period of the tenancy, and end 
tenancies in a legal and appropriate way should that be required. 

2.11 The Private Sector Housing team therefore plays a supporting role in 

preventing homelessness and in assisting the Housing Options team in 

maintaining tenancies where possible. 

                         

3.0            Identifying unsatisfactory or unsuitable housing conditions 

 

3.1 There are several statutory provisions relating to housing conditions which 

provide both the framework for identifying unsatisfactory or unsuitable 

conditions, and the powers by which to enforce improvement where 

required. Principal of these is the Housing Act 2004 which deals with 

general housing conditions, the licensing of Houses in Multiple 

Occupation, Empty Homes and the supporting regulations that include the 

method of assessment for conditions, the Housing Health and Safety 

Rating System (HHSRS). There are additional regulations related to 

smoke and carbon monoxide alarms and electrical safety, minimum 

energy efficiency standards, and other primary legislation including the 

provisions of the Mobile Home Acts, Public Health Acts, Building Acts and 

Environmental Protection Act that are available to the private sector 

housing department to use. The detail of how enforcement will be used is 

detailed in the Private Sector Enforcement Policy. 

Page 54



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

3.2 The Housing Act 2004 places a duty on the council to keep the housing 

conditions in their area under review with a view to identifying any action 

that may be required under the provisions (of the Act). 

3.3 The private sector housing department will therefore: 

 Respond to complaints received regarding housing defects or poor 

housing conditions, particularly from tenants in private rented 

accommodation. Complaints from social landlord tenants will initially 

be referred to the social landlord, however the Housing Act 2004 

and other legislation can be used to enforce on social landlords, 

and action will be taken when appropriate. 

 Respond to requests from landlords and owner-occupiers for 

assistance in respect of tackling housing defects or poor conditions, 

or concerns regarding the suitability of their housing for their needs. 

 Carry out regular routine inspections of housing subject to licensing 

schemes. 

 Carry out surveys of the housing stock to respond to the general 

duty under the Act 

 Take appropriate enforcement action where unsatisfactory or 

unsuitable housing conditions are identified. 

 The council will impose a charge for enforcement action as detailed 

in the Fees Policy. 

 

3.4 Housing conditions in the private sector in Winchester are generally better 

on all measures than the national average (see Executive summary BRE 

Stock Modelling Report 2021) and there are no wards or other sub-

divisions of the district which have significant levels of poor housing 

conditions. Such matters of disrepair as there are exist on an individual 

property level across the district and as such strategies such as 

neighbourhood or area renewal programmes are inappropriate. 

 

4.0        Advice in respect of unsatisfactory or unsuitable housing conditions 

 

4.1 In addition to carrying out inspections and, where necessary, using 

enforcement powers, the private sector housing team will provide advice 

and assistance to tenants, landlords and owner occupiers. 

4.2 The appropriate response to complaints or requests as detailed in 2.3 may 

be solely to provide advice, particularly when a tenant has not raised the 

matter of their complaint with their landlord before contacting the council. 

4.3 Advice may be provided verbally, by direct communication by letter or 

email, or by the provision of appropriate information on the council’s 

website. 

4.4 The private sector housing department will maintain a library of 

appropriate advisory documentation and legislation available via the 

council’s website to tenants, landlords and owner-occupiers alike. 

Page 55



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

4.5 The council’s strategy is to provide advice and encouragement, and to 

engage landlords and tenants in resolving issues of unsatisfactory housing 

without the need for the use of enforcement tools in the first instance 

 

 

5.0        Financial assistance 

 

5.1 The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 

2002 (RRO) provided local authorities with the ability to offer financial 

assistance to improve housing conditions. The Order repealed all of the 

previous legislation relating to grants and gave Councils wider powers to 

choose how they provide assistance and for what. To exercise this power, 

a Council must prepare and publish a Private Sector Renewal Strategy.  

5.2 The Council recognises that although primary responsibility for maintaining 

properties lies with the owners, there are occasions when owner occupiers 

are unable to readily finance necessary repairs to their homes and may 

need financial assistance not available to them through other sources. 

5.3 In certain circumstances financial assistance with unsatisfactory or 

unsuitable housing conditions may be available where the occupier is 

disabled or where assistance would meet the aims of the Better Care 

Fund. This is explained in more detail in the section on Disabled Facilities 

Grants, and in the DFG Policy, but in broad terms the Better Care Fund 

may be used to: 

 enable vulnerable individuals to stay living independently in their 

own home. 

 reduce the need for admission to a care home. 

 reduce the likelihood of hospital admission 

 reduce the cost of necessary domiciliary care 

 enable prompt discharge from hospital to a safe home 

 

6.0          Houses in Multiple Occupation and licensing 

 

6.1 The Housing Act 2004 covers licensing of certain properties: 

 Mandatory licensing – HMOs occupied by 5 or more occupants 

forming 2 or more households. 

 Additional licensing – which can be adopted at the council’s 

discretion to include all HMOs (mandatorily licensable or not) in 

areas where large numbers of HMOs in a given area are 

demonstrated to be the source of anti-social behavior or other 

problems. 

 Selective licensing – which can be adopted at the council’s 

discretion to cover all privately rented housing in an area where 

problems of crime or widespread housing condition problems are 

recognized. Selective Licensing schemes involving more than 20% 

Page 56



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

of the geographical area of the district or 20% of the housing stock 

would require DLUHC approval. 

6.2 The council currently only imposes Mandatory licensing and does not 

believe any Additional or Selective licensing scheme is required within the 

district, although this will be kept under review. 

6.3 Control on the spread of HMOs within the Stanmore and Winnall estates 

and Chalk Ridge area of the city has been successfully managed through 

the implementation of Article 4 directives, a planning tool requiring consent 

to be sought for any change to HMO use which would otherwise be 

allowed under permitted development rules. 

6.4 Non-licensable HMOs are still subject to the Management of Houses in 

Multiple Occupation (Regulations) England 2006. The council maintains a 

register of known non-licensable HMOs and will carry out inspections of 

these on an irregular basis as resources allow, and will update this register 

as new information is received. 

6.5 Private Sector Housing continues to operate an Accreditation scheme 

jointly with Winchester University. The scheme is a gateway for landlords 

to advertise their properties through the student accommodation service of 

the University and to be accredited the property must meet an acceptable 

standard, similar to the licensing standard. 

6.6 The council applies national statutory licence conditions and room-size 

standards where applicable and has, with neighbouring authorities, 

adopted a local Hampshire-wide standard for amenity provision in HMOs. 

6.7 As with general housing conditions, the council will aim to firstly advise 

and encourage landlords to maintain standards in HMOs without recourse 

to enforcement tools. 

6.8 The council will similarly maintain a library of appropriate advisory 

documents and legislation on the website available to tenants and 

landlords alike. 

6.9 The council will charge fees for HMO Licences and for the Accreditation 

scheme as detailed in the Fees Policy. 

6.10 The council will impose a charge for enforcement action as detailed in 

the Fees Policy 

 

7.0           Caravan and Camping Sites and licensing 

 

7.1 The Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 requires the 

licensing of certain caravan sites. Such licences will attach suitable 

conditions which are based on a set of national model standards relating 

to the standards of facilities that ought to be provided, suitably adapted for 

the individual site. 

7.2 Permanent residential mobile home parks (Park Home sites) are also 

subject to the Mobile Homes Act 2013 and The Mobile Homes 

(Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) (England) 

Regulations 2020 

Page 57



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

7.3 The council will continue to carry out annual inspections of licensed 

permanent residential sites. 

7.4 Site owners will initially be given advice and encouragement to maintain 

sites to the standards required by the licence conditions prior to recourse 

to enforcement action. 

7.5 The council will similarly maintain a library of appropriate advisory 

documents and legislation on the website available to residents and site 

owners alike. 

7.6 The council will regularly review the extent and location of new caravan 

sites in the district to ensure that all sites are appropriately licensed and, 

where appropriate, a fit and proper person is managing the site. 

7.7 Camping sites will require licences issued under the Public Health Act 

1936 to ensure that suitable amenities are provided for the size and nature 

of the site. 

7.8 The council will impose fees for licencing and fit and proper person 

applications as detailed in the Fees Policy. 

 

8.0          Energy Efficiency 

 

8.1 The recent BRE stock modelling report identifies that the average SAP 

rating of housing stock in the Winchester district is slightly worse than the 

national average, and that, as with other housing conditions, the less 

energy efficient housing is scattered throughout the district on an individual 

dwelling basis rather than focused in particular areas. Winchester has a 

relatively large rural area and city and town centers comprising a high 

number of older, and harder to heat, dwellings. 

8.2 In addition to the BRE modelling, the council commissioned a dataset of 

modelled EPC ratings for all housing in the district from Absolar. 

8.3 The enforcement tools available to the private sector housing department 

can deal with the more extreme cases of energy inefficiency through 

Housing Act 2004 powers and the identification of Excess Cold Hazards 

through the HHSRS, and the Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards 

Regulations (MEES) which currently disallow the private letting of any 

dwelling with an EPC rating of F or G (unless exempt). 

8.4 Government have signaled an intent to change the MEES regulations from 

2028 such that new lettings must achieve a Band C or better EPC. This 

new target will then apply to all lettings from 2030. The updated 

regulations are also expected to tighten the rules on exemptions. 

8.5 The Absolar dataset has been used in providing addresses to target the 

financial assistance provided through the department for Business Energy 

and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) for providing energy efficiency 

improvements to dwellings with a current Band D or lower EPC – the Local 

Authority Delivery (LAD) schemes and Home Upgrade Grant (HUG) 

schemes. 

Page 58



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

8.6 The council is, and will continue to be, part of the Warmer Homes 

Consortium of 21 local authorities, led by Portsmouth City Council which 

bids for this funding stream from BEIS, or of other schemes and bidding 

processes in the future. The delivery of grants is managed by a third party 

contractor.  

8.7 These schemes are targeted at low income households in dwellings with a 

low EPC rating, including privately rented housing where the household 

income rather than the landlord’s is the determining factor. 

8.8 For households who do not qualify for these schemes the council will 

maintain a library of appropriate advisory documents and legislation on the 

website available to tenants, landlords and owner occupiers alike, with the 

clear aim of encouraging all households to improve their domestic energy 

efficiency either by the installation of better insulation and more efficient 

heating and hot water systems, or through management of energy use 

generally. 

8.9 In certain circumstances, as detailed in 5.0, financial assistance to improve 

energy efficiency may be provided through the Better Care Fund if the 

provision of such assistance meets the criteria for which the fund is 

intended. 

 

9.0           Empty Homes 

 

9.1 Full details of the council’s empty homes strategy is contained in the 

supporting Empty Homes Strategy document 

9.2 The prevalence of long term empty homes in Winchester is low compared 

to the national average, with market demand for housing acting to keep 

the numbers low. However, there are still a small number of potentially 

problematic empty homes which may become detrimental to their 

immediate neighbourhood. 

9.3 Regulatory tools available to the Private Sector Housing Team are limited 

and set a high bar regarding the length of time a property is empty, and its 

condition and effect on neighbours, before action may be considered. 

9.4 The approach is therefore one of monitoring and provision of advice and 

guidance and the council will maintain a library of appropriate advisory 

documents and legislation on the website available to property owners and 

the public in general.  

9.5 The adoption of an increased rate of Council Tax has had a positive effect 

on the number of long term empty properties and will continue to do so 

while in place. 

9.6 The Private Sector Housing Team will maintain close links with Revenue 

Services to receive a regular list of all properties known to have been 

empty for 6 months or more. This enables close monitoring of the 

changing list of addresses and direct contact with owners to encourage 

them to bring homes back into use. 

 

Page 59



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

10.0       Providing Adaptations to meet the needs of disabled and vulnerable    

                 residents in their homes 

 

10.1 The council has a statutory duty to provide Disabled Facilities Grants 

(DFG) to residents who qualify for such assistance due to disability, 

subject only to a prescribed means test. 

10.2 Such grants are available to owner-occupiers and social and private 

tenants alike and the terms under which mandatory grants are provided 

are set by Government in the Housing Grants Construction and Renewal 

Act 1996 (as amended) and supporting Regulations. Adaptations for 

Winchester City Council tenants are provided by Property Services 

through the Housing Revenue Account and not through DFG funding.  

10.3 In addition to mandatory grants, the council can provide discretionary 

grants and loans, through its powers under the Regulatory Reform 

(Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002, provided it has a 

policy in place for doing so.   

10.4 Since 2017, the funding the council receives from Government to 

provide DFGs has been combined with Better Care Fund provision which 

has enabled the council to provide discretionary grant funding to a much 

broader range of residents, either through additional discretionary funding 

for those who qualify for DFGs, or for other vulnerable residents for whom 

the provision of assistance meets the key aims of the Better Care Fund as 

detailed above at 5.3. 

10.5 Full details of how the council will provide both mandatory DFGs and 

discretionary assistance using the Better Care Fund under the Regulatory 

Reform Order is in the Disabled Facilities Grant Policy. 

10.6 The Private Sector Housing Team will maintain a library of appropriate 

advisory documents and legislation on the website available to all 

residents in order to raise public awareness of the facility. 

10.7 The Private Sector Housing Team will develop and maintain contacts 

with healthcare teams in the NHS and the occupational therapy service at 

Hampshire County Council to ensure that the availability of assistance is 

widely promoted to and understood by associate professional services. 

10.8 The DFG team contacts with NHS discharge and re-ablement teams 

will enable the prompt provision of adaptations necessary to enable 

patients to be safely discharged from hospital to their homes and to reduce 

the need for re-admission. 

10.9 Financial assistance may also be provided from the Better Care Fund 

to local projects whose purpose meets one of the key aims of the fund as 

detailed above at 5.3. 

 

11.0 Working with local partners 

 

11.1 The Private Sector Housing Team works in partnership with other 

agencies in the Hampshire area to achieve both national and regional 

Page 60



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

strategic aims within the private housing sector. These include Hampshire 

County Council Social Services, Hampshire and IOW Fire and Rescue 

Service, Winchester University and the Private Sector Housing functions of 

other district and unitary authorities through the Hampshire wide Housing 

Advisory Group of senior officers. 

 

12.0 Strategic Priorities 

12.1 Improving energy efficiency in the private housing stock 

12.2 Improving housing conditions in the private rented sector 

12.3 Improving conditions in both licensable and non-licensable HMOs 

12.4 Using the Better Care Funding to best effect to reduce the number of 

hospital admissions and care home admissions, and to enable prompt 

discharge from hospital to safe accommodation. 

12.5 Improving conditions on caravan and park homes sites in the district. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



  CAB3375(H) 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
 

 

     Disabled Facilities Grant Policy  
 
                  2023 -2025 

 
 

Housing Grants, Construction & Regeneration Act 1996 
The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England & Wales) Order 2002 
 
 
 
 

Document created:  

Agreed by Committee:  

Author:  

Review Date:  

 
 
CONTENTS 
 

Introduction………………………………………………………………………...........3  
Aims of the Policy………………………………………………………………............4 
Regulatory Framework ……..………………………………………………………….4 
Definitions of a Disabled Person………………………………………………………5 
Mandatory DFG Eligibility Criteria………………………………………………….....5 
Discretionary Grants……………………………………………………………………9 
Welfare Grant………………………………………………………………………….. 9 
Heating Grant…………………………………………………………………………...9 
Relocation Grant……………………………………………………………………....10 
Top Up Grant- for works that exceed mandatory funding level…………………..12 
Local Land Charge and client contribution………………………………………….13 
Applicant living in property rented from registered social landlord………………14 
Applicant living in property rented from a private landlord………………………. 14 
Dual Residency of a Disabled Child…………………………………………………14 
Approval of grants……………………………………………………………………..15 
Fee Generating Service………………………………………………………………16 
Completing the works……………………………………………………………… ...16 
Contract Variations…………………………………………………………………….17 
Abortive Works…..…………………………………………………………………….17 
Framework of approved contractors…………………………………………………17 
Contractual relationships and responsibilities………………………………………19 
Warranties and Maintenance…………………………………………………………19 
Framework of Approved Agents……………………………………………………..19 
Contract Procurement Rules Summary……………………………………………..19 

Page 62



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

Assessment of bids……………………………………………………………………20 
Supervision of works and payment of award……………………………………….20 
Disputes……………………………………………………………………………….. 21 
Complaints Procedure……………………………………………………………….. 21 
Other Circumstances………………………………………………………………….21 
Amendments to Policy……………………………………………………………….. 21 
 
Appendix 1  
Customer Satisfaction Survey………………………………………………………..22 
 
 
Appendix 2  
Link to Latest Guidance………………………………..……………………….…….24 
 
Appendix 3 
List of current Pass-porting Benefits…………………………………………………24 
 
Appendix 4 
Processing Procedure for Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) referral………………25 

 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 

 Adaptations are needed by many disabled people so that they can remain 

safe and independent in their own home. They can be needed by people of all 

ages, but as our population ages and life expectancy increases, the number 

of people needing assistance to adapt their homes is expected to grow. 

Winchester City Council (the council) is committed to helping these residents 

achieve a home which meets their needs.  

 

 Under the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 (the Act), 

the council, in its capacity as a housing authority, has a statutory duty to 

provide Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) to applicants who qualify. DFGs are 

mandatory grants available to disabled people when works to adapt their 

home are judged necessary and appropriate to meet their needs and when it 

is reasonable and practicable to carry them out having regard to the age and 

condition of the dwelling or building. DFGs are available to fund adaptations to 

the homes of elderly, vulnerable or disabled residents to enable them to live 

independently at home or be cared for at home. 

 

 In order for the council to use its discretionary powers under the Regulatory 

Reform Order (RRO) it must have a policy. This policy sets out the mandatory 

legal framework for DFGs, and how the council intends to use its powers 

under the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) 

Order 2002 (RRO) to provide discretionary DFG assistance to promote 

Page 63



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

independent living and well-being. It sets out the flexible policy the council has 

adopted in respect of DFGs. 

 

 This policy replaces the former Disabled Facility Grants Policy and Procedure 

2018 and supersedes any other council policy relating to Disabled Facilities 

Grants. 

 

 The policy links with the Council Plan 2020-2025 and contributes towards the 

Council Plan priority of ‘Living Well’ as it assists residents with continuing to 

live well within their homes by supporting independent living for longer.  

 
 

2.0 Aims of the Policy 
 

 To improve the lives of people with disabilities by enabling access and 

movement around their own home with the use of adaptations 

 To allow more effective use of the Better Care Fund, cutting out bureaucracy 

and contributing to the aims of the fund, in particular, reducing hospital 

admissions and allowing early hospital discharges. 

 To reduce the need for domiciliary and residential care by allowing people 

with disabilities to live more independently in their own homes. 

 To provide advice, information and support regarding the adaptation of 

properties to meet accessibility needs, and provide a framework of assistance 

to vulnerable groups. 

 To treat individuals fairly regardless of age, race, religion, sex, gender, 

disability and sexual orientation and to protect their rights under Data 

Protection and human rights legislation. 

 

3.0 Regulatory Framework  
 
There are a number of legal provisions governing DFGs and their application. The 
administration of DFGs primarily comes under the Housing Grants, Construction & 
Regeneration Act 1996 (the Act) and subsequent associated legislation including:  

 

 Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 (“The Act”) (as 

amended)  

 Housing Renewal Grants (Services and Charges) Order 1996  

 The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996: Disabled 

Facilities Grant (Conditions relating to approval or payment of Grant) General 

Consent 2008  

 The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 

2002 (“The Order”)  

 The Housing Renewals Grants (Amendment)(England) Regulations 2008  

Page 64



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

 The Disabled Facilities Grants (Maximum Amounts and Additional 

Purposes)(England) Order 2008  

 Delivering Housing Adaptations for Disabled People – A good practice guide 

(June2006)  

 The Equalities Act 2010 

 Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) delivery: Guidance for Local Authorities in 

England 2022  

 
4.0 Definition of a Disabled Person 
 

For the purposes of the legislation relating to DFG’s a person is defined as being 
disabled if: 
 

 Their sight, hearing or speech is substantially impaired; 

 They have a mental health disorder is this a statutory term? or impairment of 

any kind; or 

 They are physically disabled by illness or impairment present since birth or 

otherwise 

 A person aged 18 or over is considered disabled if: 
 

 They are registered as a result of arrangements made under section 29(1) of 

the National Assistance Act 1948; or 

 They are a person for whom welfare arrangements have been made under 

that section or might be made under it. 

A person aged under 18 is considered disabled if: 
 

 They are registered as a disabled child maintained under the Children Act 1989; 

or 

  In the opinion of Hampshire County Council’s Children’s Services they are a 

disabled child as defined for the purposes of Part III of the Children Act 1989. 

 

5.0 Mandatory DFG Eligibility Criteria  
 
5.1 The Works 
 
Eligibility criteria for DFGs are laid out in Section 23 of The Housing Grants, 
Construction and Regeneration (as amended) Act 1996 and primarily relate to 
accessing principal rooms within the home and accessing and using essential 
facilities including access to gardens and outside areas of a property. 

 
Grants are dependent on:  

 The works being necessary and appropriate;  

 The works being reasonable and practicable; and  

Page 65



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

 A financial assessment where appropriate, to establish the applicant’s eligibility 

for a grant.  

 

Facilitating Access - For works to remove or help overcome any obstacles that 
prevent the applicant from moving freely into and around the dwelling. This may 
include access to the garden or yard (front, side, or rear) which means immediate 
access from the dwelling. It does not include landscaping. 
 
Making a Dwelling or Building Safe - Adaptations to the dwelling or building to 
make it safe for the applicant and other persons living with them. 
 

Access to a Family Room – Works to ensure the applicant has access to a room 
used for or usable as the principal family room. 
 
Access to a Room usable for Sleeping - The provision of a room usable for 
sleeping where the adaptation of an existing room in the dwelling (upstairs or 
downstairs) or the access to that room is unsuitable in the particular circumstances. 
 
Access to a Bathroom - The provision of, or access to, a WC, washing, bathing 
and/or showering facilities. 
 
Facilitating Preparation of and Cooking of Food - The rearrangement or 
enlargement of a kitchen to improve the access for a wheelchair and to provide 
specially modified or designed storage units, work top area etc. Where most of the 
cooking and preparation of meals is done by another household member, it would 
not normally be appropriate to carry out full adaptations to the kitchen. 
 
Heating, Light and Power - To provide or improve the existing heating system in 
the dwelling to meet the applicant’s needs. A grant will not be given to adapt or 
install heating in rooms which are not normally used by the applicant. 
 
5.2 The Applicant 
 
DFGs are available to homeowners, owners of qualifying houseboats, owners of 
qualifying park homes, tenants of private landlords and tenants of Housing 
Associations. Grants are also available for adaptations to the common parts of 
buildings containing one or more flats. Winchester City Council tenants can apply for 
a grant however, it is normal practise for housing authorities with a Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) to fund these adaptations. The council’s Property Services Team 
therefore have a separate policy for processing tenant’s applications.  
 
The council cannot, by law, refuse to process a properly made DFG application that 
it receives from an owner-occupier or tenant. If the eligibility criteria and proper 
process are satisfied, the council must, approve the appropriate grant, providing 
funds are available. 
 
Application for a Disabled Facilities Grant is dependent firstly on the applicant having 
been assessed by either a Hampshire County Council Occupational Therapist (OT) 
or the council’s in-house Private Sector Housing OT, or private registered OT. 

Page 66



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

Assessments undertaken by the HCC OT will be forwarded to Winchester City 
Council. Alternatively, people can apply on-line via the council’s web site after which 
they will be assessed to determine their eligibility: 
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/housing/private-housing-and-empty-
properties/disabled-facilities-gran 
 
Further information and guidance regarding DFGs can be found in the Disabled 
Facilities Grant (DFG) delivery Guidance for Local Authorities in England published 
March 2022: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/1065574/DFG_Guidance.pdf 
 
The following is a summary of the main legal provisions that apply to mandatory 
DFGs: 
 

 An applicant, who defined by the Act as a person with a disability, is eligible 

for assistance. 

 

 DFGs are mandatary grants which are available to people with disabilities for 

works which are ‘necessary and appropriate’ to meet their needs, and when it 

is considered ‘reasonable and practicable’ to carry out the works when having 

regard to the age or condition of the dwelling or building. A financial 

assessment where appropriate may also be required, to establish the 

applicant’s eligibility for a grant. 

 

 The council reserves the right to refuse grant assistance where the works are 

not necessary, appropriate, reasonable, practicable, are excessively 

expensive and/or where the property is not suitable for adaptation. If 

appropriate the council may offer a discretionary DFG, in the form of a 

relocation grant to help the applicant move to a more suitable dwelling. 

 

 DFGs are means-tested, except where the applicant is in receipt of a means-

tested benefit or the adaptation is for a disabled child under 16 years of age or 

a young person in full-time education under 21 years of age, there will be no 

test of resources. Applicants who receive certain specified “passport” benefits 

are exempt from the means-test, however the means-test is set by law and 

the council does not have any discretion when applying it. See Appendix 3 

for a list of pass-porting benefits. 

 

 If an applicant is eligible then the council has a maximum of six months to 

‘determine’ the application, which means approve or decline the application. 

However, the determination should be carried out as soon as is reasonably 

practicable. 

 

Page 67

https://www.winchester.gov.uk/housing/private-housing-and-empty-properties/disabled-facilities-gran
https://www.winchester.gov.uk/housing/private-housing-and-empty-properties/disabled-facilities-gran
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1065574/DFG_Guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1065574/DFG_Guidance.pdf


  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

 The maximum mandatory DFG in England is currently £30,000, and this 

amount would be reduced by any contribution determined as payable under 

the means-test. 

 

 The duty to provide DFGs is ‘tenure blind’, and therefore applications from 

home owners or those renting in the private or social sector are treated 

equally depending on their needs. Applications received from tenants living in 

private rented housing must be accompanied by a tenant’s certificate signed 

by the landlord to demonstrate that they will remain living in their home for the 

grant condition period (usually 5 years) or for such a shorter period as their 

health and other relevant circumstances allow. 

 

 An applicant must be 18 years of age or older. 

 

 Parents or guardians are able to apply on behalf of children. 

 

 Landlords are able to apply on behalf of their tenants; 

 

 The property to be adapted must be a legal residence, and this can include 

dwellings, houseboats, caravans and mobile homes as well as buildings 

which contain dwellings. 

 

 Both owner occupiers and tenants must have the intention to live in the 

adapted property for five years. Landlords and/or the property owners must 

certify they intend to allow the disabled person to remain in the property for 

not less than five years. 

 

 There is no restriction on an applicant making multiple grant applications for 

funding.  

 

 Persons from abroad with no recourse to public funds are not eligible to apply 

for a DFG. 

 
Appendix 4 is a flow chart of the DFG process. 
 

6.0 Discretionary Grants 
 
Discretionary grants have the same application process as mandatory grants and the 
same criteria. However, the council’s DFG policy allows up to £15,000 total costs to 
be funded before a means test is required. Below is a summary of each 
Discretionary Grant eligibility criteria:  

 

6.1 Welfare Grant  
 

Page 68



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

Primary Aim: To fund small scale works which are critical to a person’s welfare 
which have been identified by a social worker or other professional. The applicant 
should have a clear medical need/ be eligible for disability registration. The works 
should be to improve and enhance the applicant’s quality of life at home and support 
the continuation of them staying in their own home by preventing possible admission 
to care or hospital or enabling discharge home from hospital or care.  
 
Eligible works:  
 

 Deep Cleans / Declutters of essential parts of the home up to a 
maximum of £2000. The grant will contribute towards converting a home that 
cannot currently be inhabited by the person applying for the grant into one 
which can be, (i.e. through cleaning/decluttering of the kitchen/living room/ 
hallway/bathroom/bedroom (and extra bedrooms if carers need to stay 
overnight) in particular in preparation of the installation of equipment. 

 
Only applicants awaiting a discharge from hospital or care placement 
are eligible.   

 

 Minor Essential Repairs and Improvements up to a maximum of £2000. 
To address a risk or serious hazard for a person with disabilities that would 
impact on the extent to which their home can be used. The works must be 
reasonably material in terms of their nature of the risk or hazard. A broken 
item must have a substantially deleterious impact on the extent to which a 
property can be used. 

 
Examples include making good disrepair to flooring to make safe and remove a 
hazard, or improving the safety and security of a property to a higher standard to 
enable it to be occupied by a person with a disability. 

 
 

 Stair lifts – Curved and straight stair lifts can be applied for by the referring 
professional if this would assist discharge / prevents admission to hospital (if 
not for discharge/admission risk purposes this can be applied for through a 
standard DFG application). The £2000 cap does not apply to stair lifts.  

 
 

6.2 Heating Grant  
 
Primary Aim: Replacement of boilers, radiators and other substantial components of 
heating systems to bring systems and equipment up to a higher standard of 
reliability, safety or usability as might be required by an owner occupier with 
disabilities. 
 
The referrals for this grant need to come directly through a professional body such 
as: 
 

 LEAP (Local Energy Advice Partnership) which can be contacted at   

https://applyforleap.org.uk/energy-support/)  

Page 69

https://applyforleap.org.uk/energy-support/


  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

  Hitting the Cold Spots, a Hampshire County Council based service which 

provides advice on heating and energy matters for Hampshire residents and 

can be contacted at 

https://www.hants.gov.uk/socialcareandhealth/adultsocialcare/coldspots, 

 The Environment Centre (tEC), a charity based in Southampton which 

provides advice on sustainability and other matters including fuel poverty and 

can be contacted at https://environmentcentre.com 

 
Receipt of referrals from the above (or other similar organisations) ensures 
that appropriate screening has been applied to the applicant’s circumstances 
(applicants must be on pass porting benefits and disabled).  Persons in the 
community who are not on any income assessed benefits, who come into 
contact with our service, and who are in need can be assisted with funding if 
they can prove they do not have savings in excess of £6,000. In exceptional 
circumstances a legal land charge will be considered in order to cover the 
value of the works (if the works exceed £4000). 

 
Eligible Works:   
 

 Replacement of boilers, replacement of faulty radiators or other substantial 
components of any heating systems to bring systems and equipment up to a 
higher standard of reliability, safety or usability as might be required by a 
person with disabilities.  

 
Works can be funded up the value of £4000. If the necessary works exceed this 
amount the homeowner will be required to contribute the difference. The reasoning 
for limiting the cost of this grant is to enable the funding to be used as fairly as 
possible across the whole district and in anticipation of many possible referrals in the 
winter seasons up to 2024/25.  
 
6.3 Relocation Grant   
 
Primary Aim: To assist disabled persons, who are owner/occupiers to relocate if 
adaptations to their current home through the DFG are determined not to be 
reasonable or practicable and they are considering relocation to another property 
they intend to purchase as their home. Such assistance supports best value by 
ensuring DFG grant funding is focused on properties where adaptations can be 
delivered and enabling people to move to suitable property where this is not the 
case.  
 
 
Eligibility:  
 

 Applicants must be 18 or over on the date the application is made (in the case 
of a disabled child, the parent(s) would make the application). Any application 
must be supported by a recommendation from the Hampshire County Council 
OT service, WCC in house OT, or a private OT. 

 

Page 70

https://www.hants.gov.uk/socialcareandhealth/adultsocialcare/coldspots
https://environmentcentre.com/


  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

 The council and the OT must be satisfied that the proposed property already 
meets the needs of the disabled person without further adaptation or be 
satisfied that it can be adapted at a reasonable cost under the mandatory 
grant limit of £30,000. 

 
 This grant will cover the costs of purchasing a property such as estate agent’s 

fees and conveyancing, but not other relocation costs such as removal 
expenses. 

 

Relocation costs can be funded up to the value of £8,000. 
 
6.4 Adaptations Costing Under £15,000 
 
Primary Aim: To enable persons with disabilities to remain in their own home for 
longer and to also enable them to live independently and safely for longer. 
Disregarding the means test for works under this limit allows more eligible disabled 
persons across the Winchester District to access adaptations to meet this aim.  
 
Eligible Works:  
 

 Those works identified in The Housing Grants, Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996 as recommended by an Occupational Therapist by a 
formal referral with full recommendations. Typically, this includes level access 
showers, stair lifts and ramped access.     

 
Policy: Using powers provided by the above mentioned legislation, the council will 
provide the first £15,000 for works under any Adaptations Grant application 
regardless of the assessed contribution of the applicant. Any applicant assessed as 
needing to contribute to the cost of works will only be required to contribute when the 
cost of works exceeds this £15,000 threshold. 
 

 
6.5 Top Up Grant - For works that exceed Mandatory Funding Level 
 
Primary Aim: The council recognise that extensive adaptations and rising costs 
mean works often exceed the current mandatory grant limit of £30,000. This Top Up 
grant is to fund the cost of adaptations over £30,000 for eligible clients who are 
Owner Occupiers or Social Housing Tenants (see below) where the works are 
deemed ‘necessary and appropriate’ and ‘reasonable and practicable’. The applicant 
is eligible if they are already entitled to a mandatory grant (e.g. children’s cases); or if 
the applicant is not eligible for a mandatory grant (i.e. their assessed contribution 
outweighs the cost of the works they require) then they must fall into at least one of 
the following Better Care Fund Key Criteria: 
 
 

1. Where essential adaptations (to enable access to the home and access to key 
facilities to ensure that living at home is possible), need to be provided 
“urgently” to facilitate timely discharge from  hospital/nursing or residential 

Page 71



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

care, (avoiding delayed transfer of care and maximising opportunity for re-
ablement at home). 

 
2. Where applicants have a high and complex level of disability and/or life 

changing diagnosis; and the risk of sudden deterioration in their condition or 
reduced independence or increased risk of falls could be minimised by urgent 
provision of essential adaptations to the home, (to reduce risk of premature 
admission to hospital or residential care, or increase in care package).  

 
3. Where the care situation in the home is at imminent risk of breakdown if 

essential adaptations are not provided quickly, (to support the carer and 
maximise the applicant’s independence, health and wellbeing). 

 
4. Where applicants have catastrophic and life changing/limiting diagnosis, and  

urgent essential adaptations could minimise the risk of breakdown of family 
life and care, and enable supported living at home, delaying the time scale for 
the start, or increase in external health or social intervention.  

 
5. Where the timely provision of minor adaptations (in line with health and 

wellbeing targets and better care priorities), would reduce the risk of falls and 
promote a safer home environment when applicants have no immediate and 
safe access to alternative service options. 

 

Depending on the works recommended by the OT, it would be advisable that 
applicants entitled to a mandatory grant also fall into one of the above key criteria. 
This ensures correct reasoning has been applied to their case to ensure their needs 
can only be met by topping up the mandatory funding available. Typically, an 
example of this in action would be where an extension must be constructed to 
contain a bedroom and washing facility for someone less than 18 year’s old.  
 
To ensure that the offer of Discretionary DFGs is equitable to all residents within the 
Winchester District every applicant will be assessed by council’s in-house OT to 
establish the need for the additional discretionary funding from the council. 
 
Whatever their tenure the council will then require the applicant to consult with an 
agent from the council’s recommended list to complete a plan for the most cost 
effective way to meet their need. This will be a required step regardless of whether 
the applicant already has plans of their own drawn up. Wherever possible all works 
should aim to be completed within the footprint of the property. 
 
Any Top Up Grant funding will be considered having regard to the amount of 
financial resources the council has available at the time of the application. If it does 
not have sufficient resources left to fund other referrals passed to the DFG team by 
the Occupational Therapy Service or the in-house PSH Occupational Therapist, the 
council reserves the right not to approve any top up funding.  
 
Funding Limit:  
 

Page 72



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

The funding limit for the Top Up Grant is £100,000 inclusive of all work costs and 
fees associated with the works including but not limited to a contingency fee, 
architect and planning fees and the council’s service charge etc.  
 
For applicants entitled to up to £30,000 mandatory funding this translates into a 
£30,000 mandatory grant and discretionary £70,000 Top Up Grant. For applicants 
not entitled to mandatory funding this translates to a £15,000 discretionary grant and 
a £85,000 discretionary Top Up Grant.  
 

Local Land Charge and Client Contribution     
 
All DFG applicants eligible for a discretionary grant in excess of £15,000 or £30,000 
will be subject to a financial means test in accordance with the Housing Renewal 
Grants Regulations 1996 (as amended) to determine whether they will be required to 
make a financial contribution. The council has determined that where a contribution 
is required, applicants will pay 10% of the required contribution as determined by the 
government mandated means test towards the cost of the works. Should applicants 
additionally be eligible for a mandatory grant and / or the £15,000 discretionary 
grant, this along with their 10% contribution will be deducted from the grant costs. If 
an applicant cannot finance their 10% contribution then this will exclude them from 
being offered a discretionary grant. Where an applicant can finance a 10% 
contribution the balance of the grant which exceeds the mandatory level will be 
secured on the property by a legal charge. The legal charge will have no expiry 
date and therefore the charge will be paid back to the council upon sale, 
assignment, transfer or otherwise of the property. The RRO enables local 
authorities to offer this financial assistance in the form of a zero interest loan. This 
loan is registered as a Local Land Charge against the value of the property, on which 
no interest is levied. When this circumstance arises the council will only consider 
waiver of the legal charge if it causes financial hardship. An example of hardship is if 
the property is being sold to fund care and the legal charge prevents the applicant 
being able to move to a suitable placement. It is for the applicant or interested 
parties of the applicant to make their case of hardship to the council with supporting 
evidence and for the council to use its discretion when making a decision.  
 

                           Summary Table of Funding Levels 

Funding level Decision 

Up to £20,000 Private Sector Housing Team Leader 

Up to £50,0000 Service Lead – Strategic Housing  

Up to £100,000 Corporate Head of Housing 
 

For cases exceeding £15,000 the final decision will be determined by a panel of the 
above officers depending on the level of funding being applied for.  
 
Should there be exceptional circumstances where due to unforeseen works the  
value of the grant increases to beyond £100k, approval of the additional costs will 
require authorisation from the Portfolio Holder for Housing via a Decision Notice. 
 
6.6 Applicant Living In Property Rented From Registered Social Landlord: 
 

Page 73



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

The Top Up grant can be applied for if eligible applicants live in a property owned by 
a Registered Social Landlord. The same funding limit of £100,000 applies, in cases 
where the grant cannot be secured with a legal charge.   
 
 Where a legal charge cannot be applied it must first be determined that the 
applicant cannot move to another property through Hampshire Home Choice which 
meets their needs or would meet their needs with less cost than the provision of a 
Top Up grant.  This must be clearly evidenced in their application for funding.  
 
6.7 Applicant Living In Property Rented from a Private Landlord:  
 
Top Up Grants over £30,000 are not available to those privately renting as it would 
be more beneficial to assist them to move to a tenure with more security through the 
Hampshire Home Choice (HHC) a sub-regional choice based lettings scheme of 
which the council is a member. 
 
 

7.0 Dual residency of a disabled child  
 
In cases where families separate and a court order provides that residency of the 
subject disabled child is split between the mother and father (or other designated 
guardian) the council may consider the award of discretionary DFG to one property. 
The proposed adaptations will only be considered for discretionary assistance if they 
fall within those headings normally applied to mandatory schemes.  
 
A mandatory DFG can only be provided for the ‘sole or main residence’ of the 
disabled applicant and in circumstances covered by this section it would be assumed 
that one party would apply for mandatory grant on the basis that the child occupies 
the subject property as their sole or main residence. The main residence will be 
determined by which party receives child benefit. This property may or may not be 
within the Winchester District. In exceptional circumstances under the RRO a 
discretionary grant may be awarded in order to adapt the home of the other parent 
(or guardian) should there be a legitimate and evidenced need.   
 
The council will consider the details of any court order and specifically the allocation 
of time spent with each parent in determining eligibility for assistance. No specific 
percentage split is proposed by this policy as each case will be reviewed on its own 
merits. Factors to be considered include the specific details of any order, likely time to be 

spent at each property, whether the child will stay overnight at the subject property and for 
what period etc.  
 

In determining the works that might be considered as eligible for assistance the 
council will consider the suitability of the subject property for adaptation, the 
complexity and scope of the adaptations required and any observations or referral 
made by the Occupational Therapy service. The scope of any works will not 
necessarily mirror that to be undertaken at the sole or main residence.  
 
Any assistance provided under this heading will be up to a maximum discretionary 
award of £15,000 but will not be subject to any form of means testing. Any award will 

Page 74



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

be repayable to the council if and when the subject property is sold. The award 
amount will be recorded as a Land Registry charge in the same manner as a Top Up 
Grant.  
 

8.0 Approval of Grants 
 
Award of mandatory and discretionary DFGs is dependent on the council holding 
sufficient funds. Although the council is statutorily obliged to approve valid 
mandatory DFG applications within six months, where possible, the council aims to 
approve applications within 30 days of them being determined as complete and 
valid. 
 
In the case of discretionary DFG’s, the council aims for the same timeframe as 
above but mandatory DFG’s may take preference if the council needs to consider 
how to make best use of its available resources. 
 
The council will not approve a Disabled Facilities Grant application where the 
relevant work has already begun or been completed. 
 

9.0 Fee Generating Service 
 
The council recognises that applicants who do not qualify for mandatory grant 
assistance or discretionary grant or loan assistance nonetheless still have an 
identifiable need for adaptations. In some cases, applicants may decide not to 
proceed with necessary adaptations for lack of confidence or desire to deal with the 
process of completing specifications, seeking and appointing suitable contractors 
and then managing the installation, dealing with contractors and payment demands. 
 
The council wishes to encourage individuals to adapt their homes where necessary 
and appropriate to enable them to stay in their home in accordance with the wider 
prevention agenda of housing, social care and health authorities. 
 
The council provides an end-to-end service, acting as agent for the applicant and 
charges a fee of 12% plus VAT of the grant provided towards the cost of works. This 
fee forms part of the grant funding allocated. The council will offer the same service 
at the same fee rate to all applicants, apart from when a grant approaches or 
exceeds £25,000. At this point a service fee of £2,030 plus VAT will be applied. This 
equates to a total service fee charge of £2,436.  
 
The provision of fee paying support services can be advantageous to certain 
applicants who may need further works carried out in future years, as the legislation 
allows for the contribution made towards one scheme of works to be counted 
towards the applicant’s contribution to a further scheme of works if this is carried out 
within 5 years in the case of rented property, or 10 years in the case of owner 
occupied property. This is provided that the earlier scheme has been managed 
through the DFG process. 
 

10.0 Completing the Works 

Page 75



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

 
The process of sourcing and appointing contractors to complete the works will 
depend on the likely nature and value of the works to be carried out, and the 
applicant’s preferred method of engagement. 
 
The council offers an end to end Home Improvement Agency type service for the 
majority of straightforward grants and where the value of the works is likely not to 
exceed £15,000. For this approach, the council maintains a Framework of approved 
contractors whose service will be offered to the applicant if they wish to make use of 
the service offering. 
 
Furthermore, the council offers a choice of approved agents for higher value 
schemes that will typically involve a planning application and Building Control 
application for extensions or other substantial building works.  
 
Where either of the above options is adopted, the procurement of contractors will be 
carried out according to the council’s procurement rules. 
 
The applicant is under no obligation to use either approved list and is entitled to 
invite and submit quotes from their own choice of agents and contractors. In these 
circumstances the submitted quotes will be assessed only to confirm that the 
quotations are for works reasonably required to meet the identified needs of the 
applicant and for which the grant is being provided. The council may, however, wish 
to investigate the contractors proposed by the applicant to ensure that they are of 
sufficient competence and reliability to safeguard that the public purse is not put at 
unnecessary risk, and may seek assurance as to insurances and references before 
approving an award. 
 
There may be occasions when a client would prefer a more extensive adaptation 
over and above what the authority has assessed as being necessary and 
appropriate. In these cases the council will support the application by making it clear 
to clients what level of grant funding will be awarded and what level of expense they 
would be required to finance themselves.   
 
The council will base the award on the lowest quote that meets the applicant’s 
agreed needs, however the applicant may still use a higher priced contractor 
provided they pay the difference in price. In exceptional cases the council may agree 
to base the award on a quote higher than the lowest where circumstances, such as 
time for completion or known specific expertise, would indicate a better value 
outcome. 
 
Applicants should be aware that the legal and contractual relationship is between the 
applicant and contractor and NOT with the council. If there is a dispute between the 
applicant and the contractor, the council will not be able to get involved unless by 
some act or default the council has caused the issue which has led to the dispute. 
The council will generally pay contractors on behalf of the applicant, but in the case of 

an unresolvable dispute the council will pay the grant direct to the applicant. It is then for the 
two contracted parties, the applicant and their contractor, to take such action as they deem 
necessary to resolve their dispute. 

Page 76



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

 

11.0 Contract Variations 
 
Grant approvals are made by assessing submitted bids for the specification 
provided. It is the nature of any building work that variations may be required once 
work commences, either to the specification to provide a more practicable solution, 
or for additional works due to unforeseeable circumstances. 
 
Applicants who chose to complete their own design must ensure that it satisfies the 
needs identified by their Occupational Therapist (OT).  
 
If any applicants’ design includes other works not provided for by the grant, the grant 
will be strictly limited to that part of the cost of works needed to satisfy the minimum 
necessary and appropriate requirements as identified by the OT and approved by 
the council. 
 
Where variations will materially affect the design or function of the adaptation, 
agreement that the applicant’s necessary and appropriate needs will continue to be 
met must be obtained from the originating OT before the variation is approved.  
 
All requests for unforeseen works / variations from contractors that will involve 
additional costs must be agreed by the council in writing before those works 
proceed.  
 
Where unforeseen works / variations are reasonably expected to reduce costs, the 
contractor must be required to identify this reduction before works proceed. 
 
In both circumstances the grant approval documentation must be suitably amended. 
 
No additional cost will be agreed for works that an experienced contractor should 
have reasonably foreseen as necessary for the completion of the specified works. 
 

12.0 Abortive Works 
 
The term abortive works relates to any situation where a DFG application has been 
aborted before all works have been completed, this is usually applicable where an 
applicant has died. 
 
The council will consider the works to still be completed and a grant award may be 
made with consent of the property owner and residents of property.  
 
 

13.0 Framework of Approved Contractors 

 

The council will maintain a framework of approved contractors it reasonably 
considers capable of completing the works typically associated with Disabled Facility 
Grants, including specialists in the installation of wet-rooms and stair-lifts as well as 
general building contractors. 

Page 77



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

 
This framework will be informed by a 2 yearly invitation to contractors to tender 
against a given schedule of works, and confirmation of suitable insurances and 
professional accreditation.  
 
It is expected that the framework will include no more than 12 contractors including a 
minimum of 3 in any specialism. 
 
This framework will be used for any project with a likely value of up to £15,000 in line 
with the summary above.  
 

14.0 Contractual Relationships and Responsibilities  
 

In all circumstances, the contract for the completion of works will be between the 
applicant and the contractor appointed to complete the work. 
  
Full details of the contractual relationships and responsibilities will be provided to 
all contractors invited to bid either by the council or by the applicant in the 
document Preliminary Information to Contractors which may vary from time to time 
to reflect changes in legislation and industry standards. This information will also 
be provided to applicants. 
 

15.0 Warranties and Maintenance  
 

Adaptations including installed equipment belong to the owner of the property in 
which they are installed. This means property owners are responsible for ongoing 
maintenance and repairs after any initial warranty period expires. The council will 
consider funding extended warranties for equipment installed using grant funding. 
This typically includes five year warranties for stair lifts and through floor lifts. The 
owner will also remain responsible for removing equipment and adaptations once no 
longer required. 
 

16.0 Framework of approved agents 
 

The council will maintain a framework of approved agents (architectural practices 
and project management organisations) capable of managing the process of design, 
statutory applications, sourcing and assessment of quotations from contractors, and 
project supervision to completion. 
 
Agents will source and assess contractors’ quotations in accordance with the 
council’s Procurement Rules and will charge a fee in addition to the service fee 
applied by the council. 
 
This list will typically be used for projects over £30,000 and where extensions to or 
substantial internal conversion of a property are required. 
 

17.0 Contract Procedure Rules Summary  
 

Page 78



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

The Council Contract Procedure Rules identify five value of contract ranges for 
which the method of procurement varies as follows: 
 
Under £10,000 (all contracts) - minimum of one quote sought from any contractor 
considered competent. The framework of Approved Contractors identified in 
13.0 above would all meet this competence condition. 
 
£10,000 – £250,000 (Works contracts only) – minimum of three written quotes 
sought and an evaluation model based on price (awarded to the lowest cost) or most 
economically advantageous criteria used. The use of the framework identified in 
13.00 would meet the requirements for this value. Any contractor on the approved 
list may be used. If not using the approved list, three quotations must be sought. 
 
Note: if purchasing Goods and Services the limit is £100,000. 
 
Over £250,000 but below UK threshold for Works contracts (currently £5,336,937 inc 
VAT) – a formal competitive tender process by Public Invitation, Restricted Invitation 
or by invitation to contractors on the select list. 
 
Above UK threshold (currently £5,336,937 inc VAT) and subject to the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015  
 
NB: the Contract Procedure Rules do not apply where the applicant is not using the 
council’s management service or approved framework of contractors or agents. In 
these circumstances the quotes will be assessed only to confirm that they are for 
works reasonably required to meet the identified needs of the applicant and for which 
the grant is being provided, and to determine the grant award, generally based on 
the lowest quote that meets the needs. 
 

18.0 Assessment of bids 
 

Where competitive bids are received for higher value works they will be assessed 
according to any published evaluation criteria set for the particular procurement. 
 
For lower value projects where more than one quote is sought, the cheapest bid will 
determine the primary choice of contractor, provided that, in the view of the council’s 
officers, the bid is reflective of the works specified and provides good value for 
money. 
 
The council is under no obligation to accept either or any bid submitted and a further 
exercise could be progressed if deemed appropriate.  
 
In view of the contractual relationship, the council will recommend the primary choice 
of contractor to the applicant and the applicant may accept or decline this 
recommendation. In the circumstance that they decline the primary choice, the 
council may require that the applicant makes a contribution equivalent to the 
difference in price between the primary choice and their choice of contractor.  
 
 

Page 79



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

19.0 Supervision of Works and Payment of Award 
 

In all circumstances the council has a duty to inspect the works as they progress and 
on completion to ensure that monies from the public purse are being spent in 
accordance with the purpose for which the award was made. 
 
The council may pay: 
 
• The contractor directly (the council’s preferred method) 
• The applicant directly 
• The contractor by providing the applicant with a suitable instrument of 

payment 
 
Where works are deemed to meet the council’s approval, but the grant applicant 
is not satisfied, the council will not unreasonably withhold payment to the  
contractor. 
 

20.0 Disputes 
 

If there is a dispute between the applicant and the contractor, the council will not be 
able to get involved unless by some act or default the council has caused the issue 
which has led to the dispute. The council will generally pay contractors on behalf of 
the applicant, but in the case of an unresolvable dispute the council will pay the grant 
direct to the applicant. It is then for the two contracted parties, the applicant and their 
contractor, to take such action as they deem necessary to resolve their dispute. 

 
21.0 Complaints Procedure 
 

Where an applicant is dissatisfied with the service they have received, including 
where a grant has been refused, they can make a complaint through the council’s 
published complaints procedure which can be found at  
www.winchester.gov.uk/about/contact-us/complaints 
 
In the first instance any issues should be bought to the attention of the council’s 
authorised officer dealing with the application. If an applicant remains dissatisfied, to 
escalate any matter of concern, a corporate complaint can be raised as explained 
above.   
 
 

22.0 Other Circumstances 
 

In all other circumstances not detailed in this policy document reference should be 
made to the provisions of The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 
1996. Also reference Disabled facilities grant (DFG) Delivery: Guidance for Local 
Authorities in England 2022. 
 

23.0 Amendments to Policy  
 

Page 80



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

When required minor amendments to DFG policy may be made by the Corporate 
Head of Housing in consultation with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Community and Housing.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 81



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 
 
 
Customer Satisfaction Survey 
 

 
Disabled Facilities Grant Customer Satisfaction Survey 
 

The Private Sector Housing Team at Winchester City Council would like to 
know your feedback on the Disabled Facilities Grant service we provide. This 
is to monitor and improve our service for our future clients. 
 

 
How satisfied or dissatisfied were you with the following: 
 

 Very 
Satisfied 
 

Satisfied Neither Dissatisfied Very 
Dissatisfied 

The time it 
took for your 
adaptation (s) 
 to be 
completed 
 

     

The way you 
were kept 
informed 
about 
Progress? 
 

     

The quality of 
the work 
completed 
 

     

The 
contractor 
who carried 
out the work?   
 

     

how easy it 
was to 
understand 
the 
Information 
you were 
given? 
 

     

Page 82



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

how we dealt 
with any 
problems 
   Along the 
way  
 

     

The amount 
of time staff 
spent with 
you? 
 

     

how easy it 
was to 
access the 
service 

     

Overall, how 
satisfied or 
dissatisfied 
were you with 
the service 
you 
received? 
 

     

How did you hear about the Disabled Facilities Grant service?  
 
 
 

Do you have any comments or suggestions to help us improve the Disabled 
Facilities Grant service? 

 
 
 
 

 

Thank you for taking the time to answer these questions 
 

Please return this form in the self-addressed envelope provided 
 

 

 
  

Page 83



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

Appendix 2 – Link to Latest Guidance 

 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_da
ta/file/1065574/DFG_Guidance.pdf 
 
 

Appendix 3 – List Of Current Pass-porting Benefits  
 
 

 Universal Credit 

 Income Support 

 Income-based Employment and Support Allowance (not contribution-based 

ESA) 

 Income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance (not contribution-based JSA) 

 Guarantee Pension Credit (not Savings Pension Credit alone) 

 Working Tax Credit and/or Child Tax Credit (where your annual income for the 

purposes of the tax credits assessment was below £15,050) 

 Housing Benefit 

 

Page 84

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1065574/DFG_Guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1065574/DFG_Guidance.pdf


  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

Appendix 4 Processing Procedure for Disabled Facilities Grant 
(DFG) referral. 

Referral: Received electronically from Hampshire County Council (HCC) or following direct contact to 
Winchester City Council (WCC) and in house Occupational Therapy (OT) assessment  
 
 

Client reaches top of waiting list. CO (Grant Officer) phones client to confirm they wish to 
proceed with grant - If the client does not respond or advises they do not wish to continue 

case will be closed and no further action. 

Client sent DFG application form to sign and return to WCC (paid envelope supplied) NB Case cannot 
proceed until completed form is received by WCC.  

What next 
The process will differ slightly depending on the adaptation requested as follows: 

 Stair lifts – WCC will have the quote and recommendations. The grant officer will raise 

the order and the supplier will liaise with the client to arrange install 

 Level Access Showers (LAS) & Ramps – The grant officer will visit the client with or 

without a contractor, in house OT may attend if complex. Agree scheme to meet 

client’s needs. 

 Larger more complex adaptions including internal walls being moved and or 

extensions. In these cases WCC engage an agent to act as project manager. This is to 

provide technical support and obtain any permissions such as planning and obtain to 

correct number of tenders in line with WCC DFG policy.  A visit with agent, will be 

arranged with grant officer and in house OT. There will be several visits to agree a 

scheme. The agent will then project manage and be the client’s  

main contact. 

                                                            Once the scheme has been agreed  
If works are under WCC discretionary policy of £15,000 including stair lifts, ramps and LAS 
no financial checks will be completed. 
If over this threshold financial checks will be completed: 

 Clients who are in receipt of pass porting benefits and children under 18 are eligible for the  

Mandatory £30,000 – See Appendix 3 of WCC DFG Policy for details of benefits. 

 Client who do not fall into this category a financial means test will need to be completed – 

Please see policy Page 5 regarding funding. 

 Either WCC or the agent will obtain quotes. 

                                                                  Grant Offer 
Once all the financial checks and costings are known by WCC grant officer, will send a grant offer 
letter. Once this has been signed by the client and returned to WCC, works can start at a mutually 
convenient date. 

Case will then be added to the DFG waiting list unless the OT has assessed as Urgent.  
Urgent cases will be actioned as soon as received by WCC DFG Grant Officer. 
Waiting List Cases Client’s will be sent a waiting list letter 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



  CAB3375(H) 
 
 
 

APPENDIX C Examples of the impact of recommended changes to DFG discretionary policy 

Grant of 
£100,000 
(Maximum 
Grant)  

Family Circumstances  Ferret 
(Government 
Tool for Means 
Testing)  Means 
Test 
Contribution 
Result: 

Grant 
Entitlement 

10% of Means 
Test Result 
(Client 
Contribution)   

Legal Charge on 
Property (no 
expiry Date) 
after Client 
Contribution 
paid 

Previous Policy 
Contribution 
Determination 
(5% of income as 
loan over 5 year 
term)   

Previous Policy 
Legal Charge 
(With 10 Year 
expiry) Unlikely 
to be repaid to 
the council.  

Example 1   x2 working age adults 
with a joint income of 
£60,000 

 x3 children  

 x1 child with disabilities 
in receipt of DLA  

 Home Owners 

 £10,000 in savings  

£238,871.00 £30,000 
Mandatory Grant 
(Childs 
Application) 

£23,889.10 £46,112.90  £13,000 £57,000 

Example 2   x2 Adults both of state 
pension age  

 One adult in receipt of 
DLA  

 The other adult is 
registered as a carer 

  Both in receipt of an 
average weekly state 
pension of £185.00 per 
week and an 
Occupational pension 
each of £136.00 per 
week  

 £30,000 in savings  

£101,093.40 £15,000 (does 
not qualify for a 
mandatory grant 
only the £15,000 
discretionary 
grant   

£10,109.34 £74,890.66 £8600.00  £76,400.00 

Example 3  x2 Adults 1 or both of 
whom are on a means 
tested benefits 

 Owner Occupiers  

N/A as income is 
means tested 
benefits  

£30,000 
mandatory grant 
(as on means 
tested benefit)  

N/A as income is 
means tested 
benefits 

£70,000 N/A as income is 
means tested 
benefits 

£70,000 

Example 4   X2 Adults of working £8688.25 £15,000 (does £868.82 No legal charge £3950.00 No legal charge 

P
age 86



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

 
 

age 

 1 adult not working and 
in receipt of DLA (for 
whom the grant is for) 

 1 Adult working with an 
earned income of 
£25,000 

 2 Children 

 Social Housing Tenants 
(RSL) 

 £3000.00 in savings 

not qualify for a 
mandatory grant 
only the £15,000 
discretionary 
grant) 

can be secured 
as property 
belongs to RSL  

can be secured 
as property 
belongs to RSL 

P
age 87



  CAB3375(H) 
 
 
 

Appendix D 

 

 

 

Winchester City Council  

Equality Impact Assessment  
Section 1 - Data Checklist  

When undertaking your Equality Impact Assessment for your policy or project, it is 
important that you take into consideration everything which is associated with the 
policy or project that is being assessed. 
The checklist below is to help you sense check your policy or project before you 
move to Section 2.  

  Yes/No Please provide details 

1 Have there been any 
complaints data related to the 
policy or project you are looking 
to implement? 

no This is a revised an updated private 
rented sector renewal Strategy and 
is to replace the former strategy 
which expired in 2021, inclusive of 
the revised DFG policy 2023-2025 

2 Have all officers who will be 
responsible for implementing 
the policy or project been 
consulted, and given the 
opportunity to raise concerns 
about the way the policy or 
function has or will be 
implemented?  

yes All of the officers within PSH have 
inputted into the writing of the 
strategy and/or policy  with the 
team leader and service lead at 
team meetings and as part of a 
working group 

3 Have previous consultations 
highlighted any concerns about 
the policy or project from an 
equality impact perspective?  

no No previous consultations have 
taken place. 
TACT have been consulted on the 
DFG policy 

4 Do you have any concerns 
regarding the implementation of 
this policy or project? 
 
(ie. Have you completed a self-
assessment and action plan for 
the implementation of your 
policy or project?) 

no The policy details the actions the 
council will take in order to 
undertake its functions in respect of 
Private Sector Housing Grants 
under the The Regulatory Reform 
(Housing Assistance) (England and 
Wales) Order , specifically Disabled 
Facility Grant 
 
The Strategy and policy is written 
and was presented to the BHP 
committee on 29/11/22 

5 Does any accessible data 
regarding the area which your 

no Nothing identified 

Page 88

http://www.winchester.gov.uk/graphics/winchester_city_council_logo_2017.png


  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

work will address identify any 
areas of concern or potential 
problems which may impact on 
your policy or project? 

6 Do you have any past 
experience delivering similar 
policies or projects which may 
inform the implementation of 
your scheme from an equality 
impact point of view? 

yes Delivery of the existing Strategy 
and DFG policy 

7 Are there any other issues that 
you think will be relevant?  

no No concerns or issues were raised 
by members of the public following 
the publication of the previous 
private sector renewal strategy. 

 
 

Section 2 - Your Equality Impact Assessment form  
 
Directorate: 
Operations  

 
Your 
Service 
Area: 
Housing 
Options  

 
Team:  
Private 
Sector 
Housing  

Officer 
responsible for 
this 
assessment:  
John Easey 

 
Date of 
assessment:  
12.01.2023 

 

 Question Please provide details 

1 What is the name of the policy or 
project that is being assessed? 

Private Sector Renewal Strategy 

2 Is this a new or existing policy? Existing - updating 

3 Briefly describe the aim and purpose 
of this work. 

To set and explain strategic aims of 
PSH for 5 years inclusive of a revised 
DFG policy for the period 2023-2025 

4 What are the associated objectives of 
this work? 

To inform policy regarding 
enforcement, grants and licencing 
functions 

5 Who is intended to benefit from this 
work and in what way? 

The general population of WCC in 
private sector housing  

6 What are the outcomes sought from 
this work? 

Clarification of strategic direction of the 
PSH function 

7 What factors/forces could contribute or 
detract from the outcomes? 

Financial resources made available to 
the PSH function 

8 Who are the key individuals and 
organisations responsible for the 
implementation of this work?  

PSH officers 

9 Who implements the policy or project 
and who or what is responsible for it? 

The Senior Private Sector Housing 
Officer in conjunction with PSH 
Service colleagues will implement and 
be responsible for the strategy. 

 

Page 89



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

  Please select your answer in bold. 
Please provide detail here.  

10a Could the policy or project have the 
potential to affect individuals or 
communities on the basis of race 
differently in a negative way? 

 
Y 

 
N 

 

10b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

The strategy is for the whole district and 
there have been no indications that the 
previous incarnation of the strategy 
resulted in any negative effect on 
specific or protected groups. The most 
recent Census data available (2011) 
identifies that 97.2% of the districts 
population state ‘English’ as their main 
language. The need for translation or 
interpretation of letters etc. is therefore 
likely to be low. However, all aspects of 
communication will comply with the 
council’s Equality Policy and access to 
translation services can be provided if 
required. 

11a Could the policy or project have the 
potential to affect individuals or 
communities on the basis of sex 
differently in a negative way? 

 
Y 

 
N 

No specific impacts. 

11b  What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

The strategy is for the whole district and 
there have been no indications that the 
previous incarnation of the strategy 
resulted in any negative effect on 
specific or protected groups. 

12a Could the policy or project have the 
potential to affect individuals or 
communities on the basis of 
disability differently in a negative 
way? 
 
(you may wish to consider: 

 Physical access 

 Format of information 

 Time of interview or 
consultation event 

 Personal assistance 

 Interpreter  

 Induction loop system 

 Independent living equipment 

 Content of interview) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Y 

 
 
 
 
 
 
N 

Suitable assistance will be 
provided to residents requiring 
the PSH teams services if 
needed in line with the 
council’s equality policy. 
Such assistance can include: 

 Undertaking home visits 
should homeowners 
have a physical or 
mental disability that 
prevents them from 
easily attending at the 
council offices 

 Accessing telephone 
translation services 
should language be a 
barrier to 
communication 

Page 90



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

 Use of a hearing loop in 
the city office reception 
for those hard of hearing 

 Providing letters in large 
font format   

 

12b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

The strategy is for the whole district and 
there have been no indications that the 
previous incarnation of the strategy 
resulted in any negative effect on 
specific or protected groups. 
The strategy may in fact be positively 
discriminatory towards this group as the 
only proposed discretionary grant 
assistance is targeted to people with 
disabilities. 

13a Could the policy or project have the 
potential to affect individuals or 
communities on the basis of sexual 
orientation differently in a negative 
way? 

 
Y 

 
N 

There is no evidence to 
suggest that the strategy will 
have a potential impact on this 
characteristic 

13b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

The strategy is for the whole district and 
there have been no indications that the 
previous incarnation of the strategy 
resulted in any negative effect on 
specific or protected groups. 
 

14a Could the policy or project have the 
potential to affect individuals on the 
basis of age differently in a negative 
way? 

 
Y 
 

 
N 

It is recognised that not all 
residents may have access to 
computers and are able to 
communicate electronically. 
This can be the case across all 
age groups but there is the 
potential for a proportion of 
persons in the older age group 
to be more greatly affected. 

14b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

None, however, in line with the council’s 
equality policy the offer of different 
communication methods will be offered 
as this helps ensure that the information 
and dialogue is encouraged with all 
property owners, regardless of their 
communication preference 
 

15a Could the policy or project have the 
potential to affect individuals or 
communities on the basis of 
religious belief differently in a 

 
Y 

 
N 

It is acknowledged that some 
faiths / religions require 
worship on particular days and 
therefore may not be able to 

Page 91



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

negative way? attend appointments / 
meetings due to this 

15b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

The strategy is for the whole district and 
there have been no indications that the 
previous incarnation of the strategy 
resulted in any negative effect on 
specific or protected groups. However 
due consideration will be given to this 
and flexibility will be applied, if required, 
in order to mitigate any adverse impact. 
 

16a Could this policy or project have the 
potential to affect individuals on the 
basis of gender reassignment 
differently in a negative way? 

 
Y 

 
N 

There is no evidence to 
suggest that the strategy will 
have a potential impact on this 
characteristic but due 
consideration will be given to 
this and flexibility will be 
applied, if required, in order to 
mitigate any adverse impact.  . 

16b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

The strategy is for the whole district and 
there have been no indications that the 
previous incarnation of the strategy 
resulted in any negative effect on 
specific or protected groups. 
 

17a Could this policy or project have the 
potential to affect individuals on the 
basis of marriage and civil 
partnership differently in a negative 
way? 

 
Y 

 
N 

 

17b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

The strategy is for the whole district and 
there have been no indications that the 
previous incarnation of the strategy 
resulted in any negative effect on 
specific or protected groups. 
 

18a Could this policy or project have the 
potential to affect individuals on the 
basis of pregnancy and maternity 
differently in a negative way? 

 
Y 

 
N 

 

18b What existing evidence (either 
presumed or otherwise) do you 
have for this? 

The strategy is for the whole district and 
there have been no indications that the 
previous incarnation of the strategy 
resulted in any negative effect on 
specific or protected groups. 
 

 

19 Could any negative impacts that you    

Page 92



  CAB3375(H) 
 

 

 

identified in questions 10a to 15b 
create the potential for the policy to 
discriminate against certain groups 
on the basis of protected 
characteristics? 

Y N 

20 Can this negative impact be justified 
on the grounds of promoting equality 
of opportunity for certain groups on 
the basis of protected 
characteristics? Please provide your 
answer opposite against the relevant 
protected characteristic. 

 
 
 
 
Y 

 
 
 
 
N 

Race: 

Sex: 

Disability: 

Sexual orientation: 

Age:  

Gender reassignment: 

Pregnancy and maternity:  

Marriage and civil partnership: 

Religious belief:  

21 How will you mitigate any potential 
discrimination that may be brought 
about by your policy or project that 
you have identified above? 

 

22 Do any negative impacts that you 
have identified above impact on your 
service plan? 

 
Y 
 

 
N 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 2 February 2023
	8 Preventing Homelessness Grant Spending Plan 2023/24
	9 Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy

